Morningstar, Inc. Form 10-Q November 04, 2009 Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

| SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION   |
|--|
| Washington D.C. 20549  |
|  |
|  |
| FORM 10-Q  |
|  |
| QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  |
| FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2009  |
| OR   |
| TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 |
| For the transition period from to  |
| Commission File Number: 000-51280  |
|  |

MORNINGSTAR, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

| Illinois (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)  | 36-3297908<br>(I.R.S. Employer<br>Identification Number)  |
|--|---|
| 22 West Washington Street Chicago, Illinois (Address of Principal Executive Offices)   | <b>60602</b><br>(Zip Code)  |
| (312) 69   | 6-6000  |
| (Registrant s Telephone Nu   | umber, Including Area Code)   |
| Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports (1) has filed all reports (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (1) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements for the contract (3) has been subject to such filing requirements (4) has been subject (4) | shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such  |
| Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electr<br>Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant<br>the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the regist  | to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during   |
| Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerat reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, the Exchange Act.  | ed filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller<br>accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of |
| Large accelerated filer $x$  | on-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o reporting company)   |
| Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company   | (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o $No\ x$   |
| As of October 30, 2009, there were 48,588,389 shares of the Com  | pany s common stock, no par value, outstanding.   |

#### MORNINGSTAR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

#### **INDEX**

## PART 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION

<u>Item 1.</u> <u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements</u>

<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended</u> September 30, 2009 and 2008

<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008</u>

<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2009</u>

<u>Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended</u> September 30, 2009 and 2008

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

<u>Item 2.</u> <u>Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations</u>

<u>Item 3.</u> <u>Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk</u>

<u>Item 4.</u> <u>Controls and Procedures</u>

PART 2 OTHER INFORMATION

<u>Item 1.</u> <u>Legal Proceedings</u>

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 6. Exhibits

**SIGNATURE** 

## **PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION**

# Item 1. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

# Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

## **Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income**

| (in thousands except per share amounts)  | Three Months Ended September 30 2009 2008 |         |    | Nin     | e Months Ended<br>2009 | nber 30<br>2008 |    |         |
|--|---|---------|----|---------|------------------------|-----------------|----|---------|
| Revenue  | \$  | 120,088 | \$ | 125,505 | \$                     | 356,353         | \$ | 383,186 |
| Operating expense (1):   |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Cost of goods sold   |   | 31,954  |    | 32,828  |                        | 92.900          |    | 98,930  |
| Development  |   | 9,447   |    | 10,271  |                        | 28,185          |    | 30,187  |
| Sales and marketing  |   | 17,730  |    | 19,457  |                        | 53,276          |    | 62,547  |
| General and administrative   |   | 20,643  |    | 22,507  |                        | 57,649          |    | 62,392  |
| Depreciation and amortization  |   | 6,631   |    | 6,266   |                        | 23,347          |    | 18,699  |
| Total operating expense  |   | 86,405  |    | 91,329  |                        | 255,357         |    | 272,755 |
| Operating income   |   | 20 600  |    | 04.176  |                        | 100 006         |    | 110 401 |
| Operating income   |   | 33,683  |    | 34,176  |                        | 100,996         |    | 110,431 |
| Non-operating income (expense):  |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Interest income, net   |   | 572     |    | 1,568   |                        | 2,314           |    | 4,468   |
| Other income (expense), net  |   | 221     |    | (241)   |                        | 985             |    | (203)   |
| Non-operating income, net  |   | 793     |    | 1,327   |                        | 3,299           |    | 4,265   |
| Income hefere income toyon and equity in not                                   |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Income before income taxes and equity in net income of unconsolidated entities |   | 34,476  |    | 35,503  |                        | 104,295         |    | 114,696 |
| income of unconsolidated criticies   |   | 04,470  |    | 00,000  |                        | 104,200         |    | 114,000 |
| Income tax expense   |   | 12,407  |    | 13,547  |                        | 37,099          |    | 42,127  |
|  |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities                                |   | 429     |    | 268     |                        | 790             |    | 1,065   |
| Consolidated net income  |   | 22,498  |    | 22,224  |                        | 67,986          |    | 73,634  |
|  |   | ,       |    | ,       |                        | 0.,000          |    | . 0,00  |
| Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling                               |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| interests  |   | 22      |    | (37)    |                        | 40              |    | (372)   |
| Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.                                   | \$  | 22.520  | \$ | 22,187  | \$                     | 68.026          | \$ | 73,262  |
| rot moon o attracted to morning car, mor                                       | Ť   | ,0_0    | Ť  | ,       | •                      | 55,525          | Ť  | . 0,202 |
| Net income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:                        |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Basic  | \$  | 0.46    | \$ | 0.48    | \$                     | 1.42            | \$ | 1.60    |
| Diluted  | \$  | 0.45    | \$ | 0.45    | \$                     | 1.37            | \$ | 1.49    |
| W. L. L. P.  |   |         |    |         |                        |                 |    |         |
| Weighted average shares outstanding:   |   | 40.457  |    | 40,400  |                        | 47.000          |    | 45.000  |
| Basic  |   | 48,457  |    | 46,499  |                        | 47,930          |    | 45,883  |

Diluted 50,048 49,421 49,623 49,221

|  | Three Months Ended September 30 2009 |       |    | 2008  | Nine Montl | ns Ended S<br>2009 | September 30 | 2008  |
|--|--------------------------------------|-------|----|-------|------------|--------------------|--------------|-------|
| (1) Includes stock-based compensation  |                                      |       |    |       |            |                    |              |       |
| expense of:                            |                                      |       |    |       |            |                    |              |       |
| Cost of goods sold                     | \$                                   | 690   | \$ | 547   | \$         | 1,954              | \$           | 1,511 |
| Development                            |                                      | 410   |    | 359   |            | 1,177              |              | 1,047 |
| Sales and marketing                    |                                      | 407   |    | 366   |            | 1,185              |              | 1,090 |
| General and administrative             |                                      | 1,356 |    | 1,546 |            | 4,340              |              | 4,883 |
| Total stock-based compensation expense | \$                                   | 2,863 | \$ | 2,818 | \$         | 8,656              | \$           | 8,531 |

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

# Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

# **Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets**

| (in thousands except share amounts)  |    | September 30<br>2009 |    | December 31<br>2008 |
|--|----|----------------------|----|---------------------|
| Assets   |    |                      |    |                     |
| Current assets:  |    |                      |    |                     |
| Cash and cash equivalents  | \$ | 189,400              | \$ | 173,891             |
| Investments  |    | 172,835              |    | 123,686             |
| Accounts receivable, less allowance of \$679 and \$466, respectively           |    | 80,428               |    | 89,537              |
| Deferred tax asset, net  |    | 5,542                |    | 3,538               |
| Income tax receivable, net   |    | 1,757                |    | 9,193               |
| Other  |    | 12,534               |    | 13,891              |
| Total current assets   |    | 462,496              |    | 413,736             |
| Property, equipment, and capitalized software, net                             |    | 60,751               |    | 58,822              |
| Investments in unconsolidated entities   |    | 20,266               |    | 20,404              |
| Goodwill   |    | 217,105              |    | 187,242             |
| Intangible assets, net   |    | 113,612              |    | 119,812             |
| Other assets   |    | 4,748                |    | 3,924               |
| Total assets   | \$ | 878,978              | \$ | 803,940             |
|  | *  | 3.0,0.0              | т  | 200,010             |
| Liabilities and equity   |    |                      |    |                     |
| Current liabilities:   |    |                      |    |                     |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                       | \$ | 30,517               | \$ | 30,071              |
| Accrued compensation   | Ψ  | 33,727               | Ψ  | 73,012              |
| Deferred revenue   |    | 125,504              |    | 130,270             |
| Other  |    | 6                    |    | 88                  |
| Total current liabilities  |    | 189,754              |    | 233,441             |
| Accrued compensation   |    | 4,551                |    | 3.611               |
| Deferred tax liability, net  |    | 7,310                |    | 7,531               |
| Other long-term liabilities  |    | 24,778               |    | 23,428              |
| Total liabilities  |    | 226,393              |    | 268,011             |
| Total liabilities  |    | 220,000              |    | 200,011             |
| Equity:  |    |                      |    |                     |
| Morningstar, Inc. shareholders equity:   |    |                      |    |                     |
| Common stock, no par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, of which 48,582,399 |    |                      |    |                     |
| and 47,282,958 shares were outstanding as of September 30, 2009 and            |    |                      |    |                     |
| December 31, 2008, respectively  |    | 4                    |    | 4                   |
| Treasury stock at cost, 223,639 shares as of September 30, 2009 and 233,332    |    | 7                    |    | 7                   |
| shares as of December 31, 2008   |    | (3,144)              |    | (3,280)             |
| Additional paid-in capital   |    | 419,026              |    | 390,404             |
| Retained earnings  |    | 232,315              |    | 164,289             |
| Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):                                 |    | 232,313              |    | 104,209             |
|  |    | 1 000                |    | (16.066)            |
| Currency translation adjustment  |    | 1,820                |    | (16,366)<br>481     |
| Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities                               |    | 340                  |    |                     |
| Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                            |    | 2,160                |    | (15,885)            |
| Total Morningstar, Inc. shareholders equity                                    |    | 650,361              |    | 535,532             |
| Noncontrolling interest  |    | 2,224                |    | 397                 |
| Total equity   | Φ  | 652,585              | Φ  | 535,929             |
| Total liabilities and equity   | \$ | 878,978              | \$ | 803,940             |

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

# Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009

# Morningstar, Inc. Shareholders Equity

| Morningstar, inc. Snareholders Equity     |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
|---|-------------|----|-------------|----|------------------|----|-----------|----|----------|------|-------------------|----------|---------|
|   | Accumulated |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
|   | Common Stoc | J. |             |    |                  |    | dditional |    | C        | omnr | Other<br>ehensive | Non-     |         |
|   | Shares      | ĸ  | Day         | т. | ******           | A  | Paid-in   |    | Retained | ompr | Incomecont        | _        | Total   |
| (in thousands, except share amounts)      |             | V  | Par<br>alue | •  | reasury<br>Stock |    | Capital   |    | Earnings |      |                   | nterest  | Equity  |
| Balance as of December 31, 2008           | 47,282,958  | \$ | 4           | \$ | (3,280)          | \$ | 390,404   | \$ |          | \$   | (15,885)\$        | \$       | 535,532 |
| Adoption of FASB ASC 810                  | , ,         |    |             |    | , ,              |    | ,         |    | ŕ        |      | , , , ,           | 397      | 397     |
| Balance as of January 1, 2009             | 47,282,958  |    | 4           |    | (3,280)          |    | 390,404   |    | 164,289  |      | (15,885)          | 397      | 535,929 |
| Comprehensive income (loss):              |             |    |             |    | , ,              |    |           |    | ·        |      | ,                 |          |         |
| Consolidated net income (loss)            |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    | 68,026   |      |                   | (40)     | 67,986  |
| Unrealized loss on investments, net of    |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   | , ,      |         |
| income tax of \$(84)                      |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      | (141)             |          | (141)   |
| Foreign currency translation adjustment   |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      | 18,186            |          | 18,186  |
| Total comprehensive income (loss)         |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    | 68,026   |      | 18,045            | (40)     | 86,031  |
| Issuance of common stock related to       |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
| stock option exercises and vesting of     |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
| restricted stock units, net               | 1,299,441   |    |             |    | 136              |    | 14,242    |    |          |      |                   |          | 14,378  |
| Stock-based compensation                  |             |    |             |    |                  |    | 8,656     |    |          |      |                   |          | 8,656   |
| Tax benefit derived from stock option     |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
| exercises and vesting of restricted stock |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
| units                                     |             |    |             |    |                  |    | 5,724     |    |          |      |                   |          | 5,724   |
| Non-controlling interest in Morningstar   |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   |          |         |
| Korea                                     |             |    |             |    |                  |    |           |    |          |      |                   | 1,867    | 1,867   |
| Balance as of September 30, 2009          | 48,582,399  | \$ | 4           | \$ | (3,144)          | \$ | 419,026   | \$ | 232,315  | \$   | 2,160 \$          | 2,224 \$ | 652,585 |

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

# Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

# **Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows**

| (in thousands)  | Nine | Months Ended Sep<br>2009 | ptember 30 | 2008     |
|---|------|--------------------------|------------|----------|
| Operating activities  |      |                          |            |          |
| Consolidated net income   | \$   | 67,986                   | \$         | 73,634   |
| Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash flows from operating activities: |      |                          |            |          |
| Depreciation and amortization   |      | 23,347                   |            | 18,699   |
| Deferred income tax expense (benefit)   |      | (847)                    |            | 1,282    |
| Stock-based compensation expense  |      | 8,656                    |            | 8,531    |
| Provision for bad debt  |      | 343                      |            | 27       |
| Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities   |      | (790)                    |            | (1,065)  |
| Excess tax benefits from stock option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units         |      | (5,724)                  |            | (22,043) |
| Other, net  |      | (969)                    |            | (818)    |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:                  |      | (303)                    |            | (010)    |
| Accounts receivable   |      | 13,521                   |            | (179)    |
| Other assets  |      | 2,206                    |            | (3,460)  |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  |      | (2,007)                  |            | 1,428    |
| Accrued compensation  |      | (41,794)                 |            | (14,521) |
| Income taxes current  |      | 12,999                   |            | 27,107   |
| Deferred revenue  |      | (8,974)                  |            | (1,635)  |
| Deferred rent   |      | (353)                    |            | 11,399   |
| Other liabilities   |      | (267)                    |            | (22)     |
| Cash provided by operating activities   |      | 67,333                   |            | 98,364   |
|   |      | 07,333                   |            | 30,304   |
| Investing activities  |      |                          |            |          |
| Purchases of investments  |      | (111,603)                |            | (71,861) |
| Proceeds from sale of investments   |      | 64,479                   |            | 95,793   |
| Capital expenditures  |      | (10,286)                 |            | (29,290) |
| Acquisitions, net of cash acquired  |      | (19,315)                 |            | (55,981) |
| Other, net  |      | 623                      |            |          |
| Cash used for investing activities  |      | (76,102)                 |            | (61,339) |
| Financing activities  |      |                          |            |          |
| Proceeds from stock options exercises   |      | 14,378                   |            | 17,282   |
| Excess tax benefits from stock option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units         |      | 5,724                    |            | 22,043   |
| Other, net  |      | (305)                    |            | (3)      |
| Cash provided by financing activities   |      | 19,797                   |            | 39,322   |
| Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents                                  |      | 4,481                    |            | (2,308)  |
| Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   |      | 15,509                   |            | 74,039   |
| Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period   |      | 173,891                  |            | 159,576  |
| Cash and cash equivalents end of period   | \$   | 189,400                  | \$         | 233,615  |
|   | Ψ    | 100,100                  | Ť          | _00,0.0  |
| Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:   |      |                          |            |          |
| Cash paid for income taxes  | \$   | 25,154                   | \$         | 20,356   |
| Supplemental information of non-cash investing and financing activities:                      | Φ    | (005)                    | Φ.         | (050)    |
| Unrealized loss on available-for-sale investments   | \$   | (225)                    | \$         | (258)    |

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

6

#### **Table of Contents**

#### MORNINGSTAR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

#### NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Basis of Presentation of Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries (Morningstar, we, our, the Company) have been prepared to conform to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of management, the statements reflect all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary to present fairly our financial position, results of operations, equity, and cash flows. These financial statements and notes should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto as of December 31, 2008 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

We discuss our significant accounting policies in Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. In addition, in the first nine months of 2009, we adopted the following financial accounting standards:

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)

In the third quarter of 2009, we adopted the FASB s *Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)*. The FASB s ASC is the source of authoritative U.S. accounting and reporting standards for nongovernmental entities, in addition to guidance issued by the SEC. The Codification reorganizes the thousands of U.S. GAAP pronouncements into roughly 90 accounting topics and displays all topics using a consistent structure. It also includes relevant SEC guidance that follows the same topical structure in separate sections in the Codification. We have updated our financial statement disclosures to reflect the relevant references to the FASB s ASC.

Accounting and Reporting of the noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiaries

Effective January 1, 2009, we began accounting and reporting the noncontrolling interests in our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with FASB ASC 810, *Consolidation*. A noncontrolling interest is the portion of equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent company. We conduct our business operations outside of the United States through wholly owned or majority owned operating subsidiaries. The noncontrolling (minority) interest is now reported in our Consolidated Balance Sheet within equity, separately from the shareholders equity attributable to Morningstar, Inc. In addition, we present the net income or loss and comprehensive income or loss attributed to the

Morningstar, Inc. shareholders and the noncontrolling interests in our Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statement of Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

**Business Combinations** 

Effective January 1, 2009, FASB ASC 805, *Business Combinations*, modifies the financial accounting and reporting of business combinations. For business combinations which occur after January 1, 2009, we are required to recognize and measure the fair value of the acquired operation as a whole, and the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their full fair values as of the date control is obtained, regardless of the percentage ownership in the acquired operation or how the acquisition was achieved. In addition, direct costs incurred in connection with a business combination, such as finder s fees, advisory, accounting, legal, valuation, and other professional fees are expensed as incurred. Restructuring costs, including severance and relocation for employees of the acquired entity, are recognized separately from the business combination as post-combination expenses unless the target entity meets the criteria of FASB ASC 420, *Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations* on the acquisition date. Prior to January 1, 2009, acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs were generally included as part of the cost of the acquired business.

|  | Tab | ole | of | Con | tents |
|--|-----|-----|----|-----|-------|
|--|-----|-----|----|-----|-------|

EITF Issue 08-6, Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations

We adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 08-6, *Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations*, concurrently with the adoption of FASB ASC 805, *Business Combinations* and FASB ASC 810, *Consolidation*. The intent of EITF 08-6 is to clarify the accounting for certain transactions and impairment considerations related to equity method investments as modified by the provisions of FASB ASC 805 and FASB ASC 810. EITF 08-6 is incorporated in FASB ASC 323, *Investments Equity Method and Joint Ventures*.

Fair Value Measurement

In April 2009, the FASB issued three Financial Staff Positions (FSPs) intended to provide additional application guidance and enhance disclosures regarding fair value measurements and impairments of securities.

- 1. FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, provides guidelines for making fair value measurements more consistent with the principles presented in SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This accounting guidance is incorporated in FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.
- 2. FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, *Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments*, enhances consistency in financial reporting by increasing the frequency of fair value disclosures. This accounting guidance is incorporated into FASB ASC 825, *Financial Instruments*.
- 3. FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, *Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments*, provides additional guidance designed to create greater clarity and consistency in accounting for and presenting impairment losses on securities. This accounting guidance is incorporated in FASB ASC 320, *Investments Debt and Equity Securities*.

The disclosures related to these amendments appear in Note 6 in the Notes to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Subsequent Events

FASB ASC 855, *Subsequent Events*, establishes the accounting for and disclosures of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date, that is, whether that date represents the date the financial statements were issued or were available to be issued. See Note 12 in the Notes to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the related disclosure.

The adoption of these financial accounting standards did not have a material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

8

# 3. Acquisitions, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Assets

## 2009 Acquisitions

In the first nine months of 2009, we completed four acquisitions. Cash used for these four acquisitions, net of acquired cash, was \$18,660,000 and is subject to post-closing adjustments. The table below shows additional information concerning these acquisitions:

| Acquisition   | Description  | Date Completed | Purchase Price*             |
|---|--|----------------|-----------------------------|
| Global financial filings<br>database business of Global<br>Reports LLC                        | A leading provider of online financial and Corporate and Social Responsibility reports for publicly traded companies around the world  | April 20, 2009 | Not separately disclosed    |
| Equity research and data business of C.P.M.S. Computerized Portfolio Management Services Inc. | C.P.M.S. tracks fundamental equity data for approximately 4,000 securities in the United States and Canada as well as tracks and provides earnings estimates for Canadian stocks   | May 1, 2009    | \$13.9 million              |
| Andex Associates, Inc.  | The company is known for its Andex Charts, individual graphic charts detailing historical market returns, stock index growth, inflation rates, currency rates, and general economic conditions for the United States dating back to 1926, and for Canada dating back to 1950   | May 1, 2009    | Not separately<br>disclosed |
| Intech Pty Ltd  | A leading provider of multi-manager and investment portfolio solutions in Sydney, Australia, Intech also manages a range of single sector, alternative strategy, and diversified investment portfolios, has one of the leading separately managed account databases in Australia, and offers the Intech Desktop Consultant, a research software product for institutions | June 30, 2009  | Not separately<br>disclosed |

<sup>\*</sup> Total purchase price less cash acquired

The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the dates of acquisition for the four acquisitions completed during the first nine months of 2009:

|                           | (\$000)     |
|---------------------------|-------------|
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$<br>1,295 |
| Investments               | 16          |
| Accounts receivable       | 2,703       |
| Other current assets      | 135         |
| Deferred tax asset        | 364         |
| Other non-current assets  | 78          |

| Intangible assets                        | 10,015       |
|--|--------------|
| Goodwill                                 | 10,889       |
| Deferred revenue                         | (570)        |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (4,055)      |
| Other current liabilities                | (137)        |
| Deferred tax liability non-current       | (778)        |
| Total purchase price                     | \$<br>19,955 |

#### **Table of Contents**

The preliminary allocation includes \$10,015,000 of acquired intangible assets. These assets primarily include customer-related assets and technology-based assets, including software and databases. The deferred tax liability of \$778,000 is primarily because the amortization expense related to certain intangible assets is not deductible for income tax purposes. Approximately \$7,728,000 of the intangible assets is deductible for income tax purposes over a period of approximately 15 years from the acquisition date.

Goodwill of \$10,889,000 represents the premium we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired with these four acquisitions. We paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the strategic benefits of expanding our Canadian equity research and data offerings, increasing our international presence in funds-of-funds investment management, expanding our library of market analysis communications materials to include financial charts and communications materials for financial advisors in Canada and broadening our database to include a global financial filings database. Approximately \$8,255,000 of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes over a period of approximately 15 years from the acquisition date.

Increased Investment in Morningstar Korea Co., Ltd.

In addition to these four acquisitions, in September 2009, we acquired an additional 20% ownership in Morningstar Korea increasing our ownership interest to 60%. Morningstar Korea became a majority-owned subsidiary in September 2009, and its assets, liabilities, and results of operations have been consolidated. Morningstar Korea provides financial information and services for investors in South Korea and offers consulting and advisory services through its subsidiary, Morningstar Associates Korea.

2008 Acquisitions

Acquisition of the Hemscott data, media, and investor relations Web site businesses

In January 2008, we acquired the Hemscott data, media, and investor relations Web site businesses for \$51,279,000 in cash including post-closing adjustments and transaction costs directly related to the acquisition, less acquired cash. The acquisition includes Hemscott Data, which has more than 20 years of comprehensive fundamental data on virtually all publicly listed companies in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Ireland; Hemscott Premium and Premium Plus, subscription-based investment research and data services; Hemscott IR, which provides online investor relations services in the United Kingdom; and Hemscott.com, a free investment research Web site in the United Kingdom. In addition, Hemscott India operates a data collection center in New Delhi, India. We began including the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on January 9, 2008.

In the first nine months of 2009, we did not make any significant changes to the purchase price allocation for Hemscott compared with the preliminary estimates as of December 31, 2008. Additional information concerning this acquisition can be found in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

#### Fundamental Data Limited

In October 2008, we acquired Fundamental Data Limited (Fundamental Data), a leading provider of data on closed-end funds in the United Kingdom for \$18,473,000 in cash including post-closing adjustments and transaction costs directly related to the acquisition, less acquired cash. Fundamental Data s flagship product is FundWeb, an online subscription service allowing clients access to the company s comprehensive database. Fundamental Data also provides data feeds, Web site feeds, and report outsourcing services including production of fund fact sheets. It also offers an online database of publicly issued documents relating to closed-end funds. We began including the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on October 2, 2008.

The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

|  | (\$000)      |
|--|--------------|
| Cash                                     | \$<br>1,691  |
| Accounts receivable                      | 785          |
| Other current assets                     | 179          |
| Fixed assets                             | 170          |
| Intangible assets                        | 9,276        |
| Goodwill                                 | 12,820       |
| Deferred revenue                         | (1,058)      |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (410)        |
| Other current liabilities                | (511)        |
| Deferred tax liability non-current       | (2,597)      |
| Other non-current liabilities            | (181)        |
| Total purchase price                     | \$<br>20,164 |

The purchase price allocation includes \$9,276,000 of acquired intangible assets, as follows:

|  | (\$000)     | Weighted<br>Average<br>Useful Life<br>(years) |
|--|-------------|---|
| Customer-related assets                            | \$<br>4,422 | 10  |
| Technology-based assets                            | 4,780       | 7   |
| Intellectual property (trademarks and trade names) | 74          | 5   |
| Total intangible assets                            | \$<br>9,276 | 8   |

Based on the purchase price allocation, we recorded \$12,820,000 of goodwill. Goodwill for Fundamental Data represents the premium we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired. We paid this premium for a number of reasons, including Fundamental Data s leadership position in global closed-end fund data.

The deferred tax liability of \$2,597,000 results mainly because the amortization expense related to the intangible assets is not deductible for income tax purposes. The goodwill we recorded is also not considered deductible for income tax purposes.

# 10-K Wizard Technology, LLC

In December 2008, we acquired 10-K Wizard Technology, LLC (10-K Wizard), a leading provider of real-time Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filing research services for \$11,485,000 in cash including post-closing adjustments and transaction costs directly related to the acquisition, less acquired cash. The company s flagship product, 10-K Wizard, offers full-text searching capabilities for real-time and historical SEC filings. Available via subscription or custom data feed, 10-K Wizard also provides global company profiles that contain hyperlinks to annual reports and peer companies as well as stock news and charts. We began including the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on December 4, 2008. Subsequent to the acquisition, we rebranded the 10-K Wizard product offerings into the Morningstar Global Document Library.

The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

|  | (\$000)      |
|--|--------------|
| Cash                                     | \$<br>241    |
| Accounts receivable                      | 495          |
| Fixed assets                             | 260          |
| Intangible assets                        | 5,500        |
| Goodwill                                 | 8,235        |
| Deferred revenue                         | (1,755)      |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (1,250)      |
| Total purchase price                     | \$<br>11,726 |

The purchase price allocation includes \$5,500,000 of acquired intangible assets, as follows:

|  | (0000)      | Weighted<br>Average<br>Useful Life |
|--|-------------|------------------------------------|
|  | (\$000)     | (years)                            |
| Customer-related assets                            | \$<br>3,040 | 10                                 |
| Technology-based assets                            | 2,430       | 9                                  |
| Intellectual property (trademarks and trade names) | 30          | 1                                  |
| Total intangible assets                            | \$<br>5.500 | 9                                  |

Based on the purchase price allocation, we recorded \$8,235,000 of goodwill. Goodwill for 10-K Wizard represents the premium we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired. We paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the strategic benefit of the combined company and its fit with our goal of bringing greater transparency to equity investments. The combination also leverages Morningstar s existing client base with a robust and intuitive data mining application and the technological advantages of 10-K Wizard s expertise in database search and retrieval.

The goodwill and intangible assets are amortizable for U.S. income tax purposes for a period of 15 years from the date of acquisition.

#### Tenfore Systems Limited

In December 2008, we acquired Tenfore Systems Limited (Tenfore), a global provider of real-time market data and financial data workstations for \$19,259,000 in cash including post-closing adjustments and transaction costs directly related to the acquisition, less acquired cash. Tenfore collects data on global equities, commodities, derivatives, indexes, and foreign currencies from more than 160 sources and consolidates the data for real-time distribution to clients. Tenfore s flagship products include Consolidated Real-Time Market Data Feed, QuoteSpeed Workstation, Tenfore Intraday Exchange (TIX), Tenfore Direct Exchange (TDX), and Tenforex. We began including the results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on December 17, 2008. Subsequent to the acquisition, we refer to this business as Morningstar Real-Time Data.

The following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

|  | (\$000)      |
|--|--------------|
| Cash                                     | \$<br>194    |
| Accounts receivable                      | 1,130        |
| Other current assets                     | 483          |
| Fixed assets                             | 737          |
| Other non current assets                 | 256          |
| Intangible assets                        | 3,319        |
| Goodwill                                 | 20,320       |
| Deferred revenue                         | (1,003)      |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (4,350)      |
| Other current liabilities                | (704)        |
| Deferred tax liability non-current       | (929)        |
| Total purchase price                     | \$<br>19,453 |

The purchase price allocation includes \$3,319,000 of acquired intangible assets, as follows:

|                         | (\$000)     | Weighted<br>Average<br>Useful Life<br>(years) |
|-------------------------|-------------|---|
| Customer-related assets | \$<br>2,141 | 8   |
| Technology-based assets | 1,178       | 3   |
| Total intangible assets | \$<br>3,319 | 6   |

Based on the purchase price allocation, we recorded \$20,320,000 of goodwill. Goodwill for Tenfore represents the premium we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired. We paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the strategic benefits of significantly expanding the scope, depth, and timeliness of Morningstar s investment data with the addition of real-time stock quotes from nearly all of the world s major stock exchanges. The combined company will also leverage our existing client base and geographic presence with the ability to offer a key data feed to institutions around the world.

| The deferred tax liability of \$929,000 | results mainly because the a  | mortization expense related   | d to the intangible assets is no |
|---|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| deductible for income tax purposes.     | The goodwill we recorded is n | not considered deductible for | or income tax purposes.          |

Other Acquisitions in 2008

We also completed two other acquisitions in 2008:

- Financial Computer Support, Inc. (FCSI) is a leading provider of practice management software for independent advisors. FCSI s flagship product, dbCAMS+, is a portfolio management system that allows advisors to easily track and produce client reports as well as manage client contact information and billing. We rebranded dbCAMS+ and incorporated it into our Morningstar Principia product line. We began including the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on September 2, 2008.
- InvestData (Proprietary) Limited (InvestData) is a leading provider of fund information in South Africa. We began including the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated Financial Statements on December 29, 2008.

The combined purchase price for these two acquisitions was \$5,679,000 including post-closing adjustments and transaction costs directly related to the acquisitions, less acquired cash. Substantially all of the purchase price was paid in cash during 2008 with approximately \$147,000 expected to be paid in December 2009.

For these two acquisitions, the following table summarizes our preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the dates of acquisition:

|  | (\$000)     |
|--|-------------|
| Cash                                     | \$<br>261   |
| Accounts receivable                      | 47          |
| Other current assets                     | 311         |
| Fixed assets                             | 65          |
| Intangible assets                        | 2,324       |
| Goodwill                                 | 4,129       |
| Deferred revenue                         | (210)       |
| Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | (24)        |
| Other current liabilities                | (98)        |
| Deferred tax liability non-current       | (865)       |
| Total purchase price                     | \$<br>5,940 |

The purchase price allocation includes \$2,324,000 of acquired intangible assets, as follows:

|                           | (\$000)     | Weighted<br>Average<br>Useful Life<br>(years) |
|---------------------------|-------------|---|
| Customer-related assets   | \$<br>1,810 | 15  |
| Technology-based assets   | 506         | 6   |
| Non-competition agreement | 8           | 1   |
| Total intangible assets   | \$<br>2,324 | 13  |

Based on the purchase price allocation, we recorded \$4,129,000 of goodwill for FCSI and InvestData. Goodwill for FCSI and InvestData represents the premium we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired. For FCSI, we paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the strategic benefits of bringing together two popular software applications in a single product suite and expanding our capabilities to include additional portfolio management, accounting, and performance reporting functionality. For InvestData, we paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the strategic benefits of a more diversified global managed funds database and the ability to leverage Morningstar s existing client base in a new geographic region.

As amortization expense related to certain intangible assets is not deductible for income tax purposes, we recorded a deferred tax liability of \$865,000 related to these acquisitions. The goodwill we recorded is not considered deductible for income tax purposes.

Pro Forma Information for 2009 and 2008 Acquisitions

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of our Consolidated Statements of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 as if we had completed these 10 acquisitions and had consolidated Morningstar Korea as of

January 1 of each of these years. In calculating the pro forma information below, we made an adjustment to include amortization expense related to the intangible assets acquired.

|                              | Nine m | onths ended Sep | tember 3 | 30      |
|------------------------------|--------|-----------------|----------|---------|
| (\$000)                      |        | 2009            |          | 2008    |
| Revenue                      | \$     | 362,764         | \$       | 417,612 |
| Operating income             | \$     | 100,473         | \$       | 108,487 |
| Net income                   | \$     | 67,623          | \$       | 71,667  |
|                              |        |                 |          |         |
| Basic net income per share   | \$     | 1.41            | \$       | 1.56    |
| Diluted net income per share | \$     | 1.36            | \$       | 1.46    |

#### Goodwill

The following table shows the changes in our goodwill balances from January 1, 2008 to September 30, 2009:

|   | (\$000)       |
|---|---------------|
| Balance as of January 1, 2008   | \$<br>128,141 |
| Acquisition of the Hemscott data, media, and investor relations Web site businesses | 35,683        |
| Acquisition of Fundamental Data   | 13,669        |
| Acquisition of 10-K Wizard  | 7,219         |
| Acquisition of Tenfore  | 13,916        |
| Acquisition of FCSI and InvestData  | 3,858         |
| Other, primarily currency translation   | (15,244)      |
| Balance as of December 31, 2008   | 187,242       |
| Goodwill for acquisitions completed in the first nine months of 2009                | 12,512        |
| Adjustments to purchase price allocations for acquisitions completed in 2008        | 6,796         |
| Other, primarily currency translation   | 10,555        |
| Balance as of September 30, 2009  | \$<br>217,105 |

We did not record any impairment losses in the third quarter or year-to-date periods ended September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2008, respectively.

The following table summarizes our intangible assets:

|   | As | of Septem | ber | 30, 2009              | As of December 31, 2008<br>Weighted<br>Average |                       |    |         |    |                          | Weighted<br>Average |         |                        |
|---|----|-----------|-----|-----------------------|--|-----------------------|----|---------|----|--------------------------|---------------------|---------|------------------------|
| (\$000)   |    | Gross     |     | cumulated nortization | Net  | Useful Life<br>(years | 9  | Gross   | _  | cumulated<br>nortization |                     | Net     | Useful Life<br>(years) |
| Intellectual property   | \$ | 28,001    | \$  | (11,329)              | \$<br>16,672                                   | 1(                    | \$ | 26,198  | \$ | (8,338)                  | \$                  | 17,860  | 10                     |
| Customer-related assets   |    | 81,176    |     | (24,776)              | 56,400   | 1(                    | )  | 67,325  |    | (17,620)                 |                     | 49,705  | 10                     |
| Supplier relationships  |    | 240       |     | (57)                  | 183  | 20                    | )  | 240     |    | (48)                     |                     | 192     | 20                     |
| Technology-based assets   |    | 45,824    |     | (14,775)              | 31,049   | Ç                     | 9  | 34,845  |    | (9,525)                  |                     | 25,320  | 9                      |
| Non-competition agreement   |    | 820       |     | (509)                 | 311  | į                     | 5  | 810     |    | (375)                    |                     | 435     | 5                      |
| Intangible assets related to acquisitions with preliminary purchase price allocations |    | 9,395     |     | (398)                 | 8,997  | 1(                    | )  | 26,962  |    | (662)                    |                     | 26,300  | 5                      |
| Total intangible  |    | 3,000     |     | (030)                 | 0,007  | - 1                   | ,  | 20,302  |    | (002)                    |                     | 20,000  | J                      |
| assets  | \$ | 165,456   | \$  | (51,844)              | \$<br>113,612                                  | 1(                    | \$ | 156,380 | \$ | (36,568)                 | \$                  | 119,812 | 9                      |

|                      |    | Nine Months Ended September 30 |        |    |        |  |  |
|----------------------|----|--------------------------------|--------|----|--------|--|--|
| (\$000)              |    |                                | 2009   |    | 2008   |  |  |
| Amortization Expense |    | \$                             | 13,793 | \$ | 12,065 |  |  |
|                      |    |                                |        |    |        |  |  |
|                      |    |                                |        |    |        |  |  |
|                      | 14 |                                |        |    |        |  |  |

We amortize intangible assets using the straight-line method over their expected economic useful lives.

Based on acquisitions completed through September 30, 2009, we expect intangible amortization expense for 2009 and subsequent years as follows:

|      | (\$000)      |
|------|--------------|
| 2009 | \$<br>18,613 |
| 2010 | 18,076       |
| 2011 | 16,566       |
| 2012 | 15,517       |
| 2013 | 13,668       |
| 2014 | 12,699       |

Our estimates of future amortization expense for intangible assets may be affected by changes to the preliminary purchase price allocations, additional acquisitions, and currency translations.

#### 4. Income Per Share

The numerator for both basic and diluted income per share is net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc. The denominator for basic income per share is the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For diluted income per share, we reflect the dilutive effect of outstanding employee stock options and restricted stock units in the denominator using the treasury stock method. The following table shows how we reconcile our net income and the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted income per share:

| (in thousands, except per share amounts)  | Three | Months Ended<br>2009 | Septe | mber 30<br>2008 | Nin | e Months Ended Septembe<br>2009 | er 30<br>2008 |
|---|-------|----------------------|-------|-----------------|-----|---------------------------------|---------------|
| Basic income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:                         |       |                      |       |                 |     |                                 |               |
| Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.                                      | \$    | 22,520               | \$    | 22,187          | \$  | 68,026 \$                       | 73,262        |
| Weighted average common shares outstanding  |       | 48,457               |       | 46,499          |     | 47,930                          | 45,883        |
| Basic net income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.                      | \$    | 0.46                 | \$    | 0.48            | \$  | 1.42 \$                         | 1.60          |
|   |       |                      |       |                 |     |                                 |               |
| Diluted income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:                       |       |                      |       |                 |     |                                 |               |
| Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.                                      | \$    | 22,520               | \$    | 22,187          | \$  | 68,026 \$                       | 73,262        |
| Weighted average common shares outstanding  |       | 48,457               |       | 46,499          |     | 47,930                          | 45,883        |
| Net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock units                   |       | 1,591                |       | 2,922           |     | 1,693                           | 3,338         |
| Weighted average common shares outstanding for computing diluted income per share |       | 50,048               |       | 49,421          |     | 49,623                          | 49,221        |

| Diluted net income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc. | \$<br>0.45 | \$<br>0.45 | \$<br>1.37 | \$<br>1.49 |
|--|------------|------------|------------|------------|
|  | 15         |            |            |            |

#### 5. Segment and Geographical Area Information

Beginning in 2009, we changed our organizational structure and now have two operating segments: Investment Information and Investment Management. Previously, we organized our operations based on three audience segments: Individual, Advisor, and Institutional. The new structure organizes our operations based on product lines and growth strategies rather than audience segments. Under the previous segment reporting, we allocated costs for our corporate functions to each of the segments. Beginning in 2009, we no longer allocate corporate costs to our business segments. We have changed the presentation of the 2008 segment information to conform to the current year is presentation.

*Investment Information.* The Investment Information segment includes all of our data, software, and research products and services. These products are typically sold through subscriptions or license agreements.

The largest products in this segment based on revenue are Licensed Data; Morningstar Advisor Workstation; Morningstar.com; Morningstar Direct; and Morningstar Principia. Licensed Data is a set of investment data spanning all of our investment databases and available through electronic data feeds. Advisor Workstation is a Web-based investment planning system for advisors. Advisor Workstation is available in two editions: one for independent financial advisors and an enterprise edition for financial advisors affiliated with larger firms. Morningstar.com includes both Premium Memberships and Internet advertising sales. Morningstar Direct is a Web-based institutional research platform. Principia is our CD-ROM-based investment research and planning software for advisors.

The Investment Information segment also includes Morningstar Equity Research, which we distribute through several channels. Our equity research has been distributed through six major investment banks to meet the requirements for independent research under the Global Analyst Research Settlement, as well as to several other companies that purchase our research for their own use or provide our research to their affiliated financial advisors or to individual investors. The period covered by the Global Analyst Research Settlement expired at the end of July 2009. The investment banks covered by it are no longer required to provide independent research to their clients.

*Investment Management.* The Investment Management segment includes all of our asset management operations, which operate as registered investment advisors and earn more than half of their revenue from asset-based fees.

The key products and services in this segment based on revenue are Investment Consulting, which focuses on investment monitoring and asset allocation for funds of funds, including mutual funds and variable annuities; Retirement Advice, including the Morningstar Retirement Manager and Advice by Ibbotson platforms; and Morningstar Managed Portfolios, a fee-based discretionary asset management service that includes a series of mutual fund, exchange-traded fund, and stock portfolios tailored to meet a range of investment time horizons and risk levels that financial advisors can use for their clients taxable and tax-deferred accounts.

Our segment accounting policies are the same as those described in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2008, except for the capitalization and amortization of internal product development costs, amortization of intangible assets, and costs related to corporate functions. We exclude these items from our operating segment results to provide our chief operating decision maker with a better indication of each segment s ability to generate cash flow. This information is one of the criteria used by our chief operating decision maker in determining how to allocate resources to each segment. We include capitalization and amortization of internal product development costs, amortization of intangible assets, and costs related to corporate functions in the Corporate Items category to arrive at the consolidated financial information. Our segment disclosures include the business segment information provided to our chief operating decision maker on a recurring basis, and therefore, we do not present balance sheet information by segment. We disclose goodwill by segment in accordance with the requirements of FASB ASC 350-20-35, *Assigning Goodwill to Reporting Units*.

The following tables show selected segment data for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008:

# Three months ended September 30, 2009

|                                   | Investment   | Investment   |     |              |               |
|-----------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-----|--------------|---------------|
| (\$000)                           | Information  | Management   | Cor | porate Items | Total         |
| Revenue                           | \$<br>95,410 | \$<br>24,678 | \$  |              | \$<br>120,088 |
| Operating expense, excluding      |              |              |     |              |               |
| stock-based compensation expense, |              |              |     |              |               |
| depreciation, and amortization    | 59,122       | 9,755        |     | 8,034        | 76,911        |
| Stock-based compensation expense  | 1,429        | 484          |     | 950          | 2,863         |
| Depreciation and amortization     | 1,561        | 48           |     | 5,022        | 6,631         |
| Operating income (loss)           | \$<br>33,298 | \$<br>14,391 | \$  | (14,006)     | \$<br>33,683  |
|                                   |              |              |     |              |               |
| U.S. revenue                      |              |              |     |              | \$<br>85,548  |
| Non-U.S. revenue                  |              |              |     |              | \$<br>34,540  |

## Three months ended September 30, 2008

|                                   | Investment   | Investment   |       |            |               |
|-----------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------|------------|---------------|
| (\$000)                           | Information  | Management   | Corpo | rate Items | Total         |
| Revenue                           | \$<br>97,075 | \$<br>28,430 | \$    |            | \$<br>125,505 |
| Operating expense, excluding      |              |              |       |            |               |
| stock-based compensation expense, |              |              |       |            |               |
| depreciation, and amortization    | 61,113       | 11,722       |       | 9,410      | 82,245        |
| Stock-based compensation expense  | 1,312        | 492          |       | 1,014      | 2,818         |
| Depreciation and amortization     | 1,055        | 67           |       | 5,144      | 6,266         |
| Operating income (loss)           | \$<br>33,595 | \$<br>16,149 | \$    | (15,568)   | \$<br>34,176  |
|                                   |              |              |       |            |               |
| U.S. revenue                      |              |              |       |            | \$<br>94,924  |
| Non-U.S. revenue                  |              |              |       |            | \$<br>30,581  |

| Nine months ended September 30, 2009 | Nine months | ended | September | 30, 2009 |  |
|--------------------------------------|-------------|-------|-----------|----------|--|
|--------------------------------------|-------------|-------|-----------|----------|--|

| (\$000)  | Investment<br>Information | Investment<br>Management | Co | orporate Items | Total         |
|--|---------------------------|--------------------------|----|----------------|---------------|
| Revenue  | \$<br>289,389             | \$<br>66,964             | \$ |                | \$<br>356,353 |
| Operating expense, excluding stock-based compensation expense, | ·                         | ·                        |    |                |               |
| depreciation, and amortization                                 | 173.957                   | 26,058                   |    | 23,339         | 223,354       |
|  | -,                        | ,                        |    | ,              | ,             |
| Stock-based compensation expense                               | 4,222                     | 1,469                    |    | 2,965          | 8,656         |
| Depreciation and amortization                                  | 3,833                     | 157                      |    | 19,357         | 23,347        |
| Operating income (loss)  | \$<br>107,377             | \$<br>39,280             | \$ | (45,661)       | \$<br>100,996 |
|  |                           |                          |    |                |               |
| Capital expenditures   | \$<br>8,872               | \$<br>679                | \$ | 735            | \$<br>10,286  |
|  |                           |                          |    |                |               |
| U.S. revenue   |                           |                          |    |                | \$<br>262,982 |
| Non-U.S. revenue   |                           |                          |    |                | \$<br>93,371  |

# Nine months ended September 30, 2008

| (4444)   | Investment    | Investment   | _  |               |               |
|--|---------------|--------------|----|---------------|---------------|
| (\$000)  | Information   | Management   | Co | rporate Items | Total         |
| Revenue  | \$<br>295,161 | \$<br>88,025 | \$ |               | \$<br>383,186 |
| Operating expense, excluding stock-based compensation expense, |               |              |    |               |               |
| depreciation, and amortization                                 | 182,468       | 37,436       |    | 25,621        | 245,525       |
| Stock-based compensation expense                               | 3,990         | 1,521        |    | 3,020         | 8,531         |
| Depreciation and amortization                                  | 3,123         | 164          |    | 15,412        | 18,699        |
| Operating income (loss)  | \$<br>105,580 | \$<br>48,904 | \$ | (44,053)      | \$<br>110,431 |
|  |               |              |    |               |               |
| Capital expenditures   | \$<br>21,401  | \$<br>3,677  | \$ | 4,212         | \$<br>29,290  |
|  |               |              |    |               |               |
| U.S. revenue   |               |              |    |               | \$<br>289,621 |
| Non-U.S. revenue   |               |              |    |               | \$<br>93,565  |

# As of September 30, 2009

| (\$000)                    | Investment<br>Information | Investment<br>Management | Corporate Items | Total         |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|---------------|
| Goodwill                   | \$<br>185,068             | \$<br>32,037             | \$              | \$<br>217,105 |
|                            |                           |                          |                 |               |
| U.S. long-lived assets     |                           |                          |                 | \$<br>43,621  |
| Non-U.S. long-lived assets |                           |                          |                 | \$<br>17,130  |

# As of September 30, 2008

| (\$000)                    | Investment<br>Information | Investment<br>Management | Corporate Items | Total         |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|---------------|
| Goodwill                   | \$<br>134,677             | \$<br>31,470             | \$              | \$<br>166,147 |
|                            |                           |                          |                 |               |
| U.S. long-lived assets     |                           |                          |                 | \$<br>40,476  |
| Non-U.S. long-lived assets |                           |                          |                 | \$<br>11,815  |

#### 6. Investments and Fair Value Measurements

We account for our investments in accordance with Topic 320 of the FASB ASC, *Investments Debt and Equity Securities*. We classify our investments into three categories: available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, and trading. We monitor the concentration, diversification, maturity, and liquidity of our investment portfolio, which is primarily invested in fixed-income securities, and classify our investment portfolio as follows:

| (\$000)            | September 30, 2009 | December 31, 2008 |
|--------------------|--------------------|-------------------|
| Available-for-sale | \$<br>161,606      | \$<br>116,867     |
| Held-to-maturity   | 7,129              | 3,497             |
| Trading securities | 4,100              | 3,322             |
| Total              | \$<br>172,835      | \$<br>123,686     |

Available-for-Sale: Investments not considered held-to-maturity or trading securities are classified as available-for-sale securities and consist primarily of fixed-income securities. We record these securities at their fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We report unrealized gains and losses for available-for-sale securities as other comprehensive income (loss), net of related income taxes.

Held-to-maturity: Investments consist primarily of certificates of deposit based on our intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity. We record held-to-maturity investments at amortized cost in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amortized cost of these securities approximates the fair value of these investments.

*Trading*: Investments consist primarily of mutual fund and equity securities based on our intent to hold the securities for a short period of time and generate profits on short-term differences in price, as well as to satisfy the requirements of one of our wholly owned subsidiaries which is a registered broker-dealer. We record these securities at their fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and include realized and unrealized gains and losses associated with these investments as a component of our operating income in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The following table shows the cost, unrealized gains (losses), and fair values related to investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity:

|                     | Se | ptember 30, | 2009 | 9       | December 31, 2008 |         |    |            |         |     |          |     |         |    |         |
|---------------------|----|-------------|------|---------|-------------------|---------|----|------------|---------|-----|----------|-----|---------|----|---------|
|                     |    |             | Uni  | ealized | Unr               | ealized |    | Fair       |         | Uni | realized | Uni | ealized |    | Fair    |
| (\$000)             |    | Cost        |      | Gain    |                   | Loss    |    | Value      | Cost    |     | Gain     |     | Loss    |    | Value   |
| Available-for-sale: |    |             |      |         |                   |         |    |            |         |     |          |     |         |    |         |
| Government          |    |             |      |         |                   |         |    |            |         |     |          |     |         |    |         |
| obligations         | \$ | 148,791     | \$   | 580     | \$                | (18)    | \$ | 149,353 \$ | 111,513 | \$  | 806      | \$  | (27)    | \$ | 112,292 |
| Corporate bonds     |    | 12,271      |      | 2       |                   | (20)    |    | 12,253     | 3,595   |     | 1        |     | (21)    |    | 3,575   |
| Commercial paper    |    |             |      |         |                   |         |    |            | 1,000   |     |          |     |         |    | 1,000   |
| Total               | \$ | 161,062     | \$   | 582     | \$                | (38)    | \$ | 161,606 \$ | 116,108 | \$  | 807      | \$  | (48)    | \$ | 116,867 |

| Held-to-maturity:          |       |          |                |       |          |             |
|----------------------------|-------|----------|----------------|-------|----------|-------------|
| Certificates of deposit \$ | 7,129 | \$<br>\$ | \$<br>7,129 \$ | 3,497 | \$<br>\$ | \$<br>3,497 |

As of September 30, 2009, we did not hold any investments with unrealized losses for greater than a 12-month period. Investments with unrealized losses for less than a 12-month period were not material to our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet and were not deemed to have other than temporary declines in value.

The table below shows the cost and estimated fair value of investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity based on their contractual maturities. The expected maturities of certain fixed-income securities may differ from their contractual maturities because some of these holdings have call features that allow the issuers the right to prepay obligations without penalties.

|                         | Sept | tember 30, 2009 |               | De | cember 31, 2008 |               |
|-------------------------|------|-----------------|---------------|----|-----------------|---------------|
| (\$000)                 |      | Cost            | Fair Value    |    | Cost            | Fair Value    |
| Available-for-sale:     |      |                 |               |    |                 |               |
| Due in one year or less | \$   | 96,542          | \$<br>96,769  | \$ | 72,910          | \$<br>73,376  |
| Due in one to two years |      | 64,520          | 64,837        |    | 43,198          | 43,491        |
| Total                   | \$   | 161,062         | \$<br>161,606 | \$ | 116,108         | \$<br>116,867 |
|                         |      |                 |               |    |                 |               |
| Held-to-maturity:       |      |                 |               |    |                 |               |
| Due in one year or less | \$   | 6,670           | \$<br>6,670   | \$ | 3,350           | \$<br>3,350   |
| Due in one to two years |      | 459             | 459           |    | 147             | 147           |
| Total                   | \$   | 7,129           | \$<br>7,129   | \$ | 3,497           | \$<br>3,497   |

Held-to-maturity investments include a \$1,600,000 certificate of deposit held as collateral against two bank guarantees for our office space lease in Australia.

Net unrealized gains on trading securities included in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income were \$1,026,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. Our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 includes \$333,000 of net unrealized losses on trading securities.

Net realized gains (losses) arising from sales of our investments classified as available-for-sale were immaterial to our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008.

The fair value of our assets subject to fair value measurements and the necessary disclosures are as follows:

|                                |    |                    | Fair Value Measurements as of September 30, 2009 Using Fair Value Hierarchy |         |    |         |         |
|--------------------------------|----|--------------------|---|---------|----|---------|---------|
| (\$000)                        | ;  | September 30, 2009 |   | Level 1 |    | Level 2 | Level 3 |
| Available-for-sale investments | \$ | 161,606            | \$  | 161,606 | \$ | \$      |         |
| Trading securities             |    | 4,100              |   | 4,100   |    |         |         |
| Total                          | \$ | 165,706            | \$  | 165,706 | \$ | \$      |         |
|                                |    |                    |   |         |    |         |         |

|                                | Fair Value<br>as of |    |         |    |         |         |
|--------------------------------|---------------------|----|---------|----|---------|---------|
| (\$000)                        | December 31, 2008   |    | Level 1 | •  | Level 2 | Level 3 |
| Available-for-sale investments | \$<br>116,867       | \$ | 116,867 | \$ | \$      |         |
| Trading securities             | 3,322               |    | 3,322   |    |         |         |
| Total                          | \$<br>120,189       | \$ | 120,189 | \$ | \$      |         |

Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access.

Level 2: Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable,

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

#### 7. Equity and Cost Method Investments

Our equity investments consist of the following:

Morningstar Japan K.K. Morningstar Japan K.K. (MJKK) develops and markets products and services customized for the Japanese market. MJKK s shares are traded on the Osaka Stock Exchange, Hercules Market, using the ticker 4765. As of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we owned approximately 34% of MJKK. We account for our investment in MJKK using the equity method. The book value of our investment in MJKK totaled \$18,159,000 and \$18,083,000 as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. The market value of our investment in MJKK was approximately ¥3 billion (approximately U.S. \$33,105,000) as of September 30, 2009 and ¥2.9 billion (approximately U.S. \$32,536,000) as of December 31, 2008.

Morningstar Korea, Ltd. Morningstar Korea provides financial information and services for investors in South Korea. Our ownership interest and profit- and loss-sharing interest in Morningstar Korea was 40% as of December 31, 2008. Our investment totaled \$1,560,000 as of December 31, 2008. In September 2009, we acquired an additional 20% ownership in Morningstar Korea increasing our ownership interest to 60%. Through August 2009, we accounted for this investment using the equity method. Beginning in September 2009, Morningstar Korea is a majority owned subsidiary and its assets, liabilities, and results of operations have been consolidated.

Other Equity Method Investments. As of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the book value of our other equity-method investments totaled \$590,000 and \$440,000 respectively, and consist of our investments in Morningstar Danmark A/S (Morningstar Denmark) and Morningstar Sweden AB (Morningstar Sweden). Morningstar Denmark and Morningstar Sweden develop and market products and services customized for their respective markets. Our ownership interest in both Morningstar Denmark and Morningstar Sweden was approximately 25% as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

The following table shows unaudited condensed combined financial information for our equity method investments held at September 30, 2009.

|                  | Three r | months ended S | Septemb | oer 30 | Nine | er 30  |    |        |
|------------------|---------|----------------|---------|--------|------|--------|----|--------|
| (\$000)          |         | 2009           |         | 2008   |      | 2009   |    | 2008   |
| Revenue          | \$      | 7,994          | \$      | 8,810  | \$   | 22,833 | \$ | 38,945 |
| Operating income | \$      | 1,840          | \$      | 1,255  | \$   | 3,778  | \$ | 5,171  |
| Net income       | \$      | 1,353          | \$      | 780    | \$   | 2,830  | \$ | 3,567  |

In April 2008, MJKK sold one of its subsidiaries. The information for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 includes the financial results of this subsidiary.

Cost Method Investments. As of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the book value of our cost method investments totaled \$1,517,000 and \$321,000, respectively, and consists mainly of our investment in Pitchbook Data, Inc (Pitchbook). In

September 2009, we acquired a minority equity stake in Pitchbook. Pitchbook offers detailed data and information about private equity transactions, investors, companies, limited partners, and service providers. Our ownership interest in Pitchbook as of September 30, 2009 was approximately 16%. We account for our investment in Pitchbook using the cost method.

#### 8. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2004 Plan) provides for grants of options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, and performance shares. Prior to adopting the 2004 Plan, we granted stock options under various plans, including the 1993 Stock Option Plan, the 2000 Morningstar Stock Option Plan, and the 2001 Morningstar Stock Option Plan (collectively, the Prior Plans). The 2004 Plan amends and restates the Prior Plans. Under the 2004 Plan, we will not grant any additional options under any of the Prior Plans, and any shares subject to an award under any of the Prior Plans that are forfeited, canceled, settled, or otherwise terminated without a distribution of shares, or withheld by us in connection with the exercise of options or in payment of any required income tax withholding, will not be available for awards under the 2004 Plan. As of September 30, 2009, we had approximately 2,200,000 shares available for future grants under our 2004 Plan. All of our employees and our non-employee directors are eligible for awards under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. Joe Mansueto, our chairman and chief executive officer, does not participate in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan or Prior Plans.

Under the 2004 Plan, we have granted stock options and, beginning in 2006, restricted stock units. Stock options granted under the 2004 Plan generally vest ratably over a four-year period and expire 10 years after the date of grant. Almost all of the options

#### **Table of Contents**

granted under the 2004 Plan have a premium feature in which the exercise price increases over the term of the option at a rate equal to the 10-year Treasury bond yield as of the date of grant. Restricted stock units represent the right to receive a share of Morningstar common stock when that unit vests. Restricted stock units granted under the 2004 Plan generally vest ratably over a four-year period. For restricted stock units granted through December 31, 2008, employees could elect to defer receipt of the Morningstar common stock issued upon vesting of the restricted stock unit.

Options granted under the Prior Plans generally vest over a four-year period and were substantially all vested as of September 30, 2009; however, because the options under the Prior Plans expire 10 years after the date of grant, some options granted under these plans remain outstanding as of September 30, 2009.

In February 1999, we entered into an Incentive Stock Option Agreement and a Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Incentive Stock Option Plan (the 1999 Plan) with Don Phillips, an officer of Morningstar. Under these agreements, we granted Don options to purchase 1,500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$2.77 per share, equal to the fair value at the grant date. These options were fully vested and expired in February 2009. Don exercised the 30,576 options outstanding as of December 31, 2008 in 2009, prior to the expiration date.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Awards

In accordance with FASB ASC 718-10-35, *Compensation Stock Compensation*, we estimate forfeitures of all employee stock-based awards and recognize compensation cost only for those awards expected to vest. We determine forfeiture rates based on historical experience. We adjust the estimated forfeitures to actual forfeiture experience as needed.

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation expense:

|                                  | Three n | nonths ended | Septemb | er 30 | Nine m | r 30  |    |       |
|----------------------------------|---------|--------------|---------|-------|--------|-------|----|-------|
| (\$000)                          |         | 2009         | -       | 2008  |        | 2009  | -  | 2008  |
| Stock-based compensation expense | \$      | 2.863        | \$      | 2.818 | \$     | 8.656 | \$ | 8.531 |

The income tax benefit related to the stock-based compensation expense above was \$881,000 and \$697,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and \$2,714,000 and \$2,701,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

We measure the fair value of our restricted stock units on the date of grant based on the closing market price of the underlying common stock on the day prior to grant. We amortize that value to stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated

forfeitures, ratably over the vesting period. The total grant date fair value of restricted stock units granted in the first nine months of 2009 was approximately \$13,437,867. As of September 30, 2009, the total amount of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units was approximately \$25,498,000. We expect to recognize this expense over an average period of approximately 34 months.

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity in the first nine months of 2009:

| Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)       | Unvested  | Vested but<br>Deferred | Total      | Weighted<br>Average<br>Grant Date Value<br>per RSU |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|------------------------|------------|--|
| RSUs outstanding December 31, 2008  | 494,500   | 22,024                 | 516,524 \$ | 55.17  |
| Granted                             | 351,548   |                        | 351,548    | 38.22  |
| Vested                              | (134,010) |                        | (134,010)  | 54.59  |
| Vested but deferred                 | (17,561)  | 17,561                 |            |  |
| Forfeited                           | (12,464)  |                        | (12,464)   | 51.33  |
| RSUs outstanding September 30, 2009 | 682,013   | 39,585                 | 721,598    | 46.82  |

## Stock Options

The following tables summarize stock option activity in the first nine months of 2009 for our various stock option grants. The first table includes activity for options granted at an exercise price below the fair value per share of our common stock on the grant date; the second table includes activity for all other option grants.

| Options Granted At an Exercise Price Below the Fair Value Per Share on the Grant Date | Underlying<br>Shares | Weighted<br>Average<br>Exercise<br>Price |
|---|----------------------|--|
| Options outstanding December 31, 2008   | 1,110,652            | \$ 15.33                                 |
| Canceled  | (175)                | 15.14                                    |
| Exercised   | (278,633)            | 10.51                                    |
| Options outstanding September 30, 2009  | 831,844              | 17.46                                    |
|   |                      |  |
| Options exercisable September 30, 2009  | 831,844              | \$ 17.46                                 |

| All Other Option Grants, Excluding Activity Shown Above | Underlying<br>Shares | Weighted<br>Average<br>Exercise<br>Price |
|---|----------------------|--|
| Options outstanding December 31, 2008                   | 2,942,706 \$         | 15.14                                    |
| Canceled  | (3,074)              | 21.25                                    |
| Exercised   | (920,202)            | 13.92                                    |
| Options outstanding September 30, 2009                  | 2,019,430            | 15.92                                    |
|   |                      |  |
| Options exercisable September 30, 2009                  | 2,009,744 \$         | 15.80                                    |

The total intrinsic value (difference between the market value of our stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the option) of options exercised during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 was \$31,302,000 and \$100,196,000, respectively.

The table below shows additional information for options outstanding and options exercisable as of September 30, 2009:

| Range of Exercise Prices       | Options Outsta  Outstanding Shares | Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years) | 1  | eighted<br>Average<br>Exercise<br>Price | Ą  | ggregate<br>Intrinsic<br>Value<br>(\$000) | Options Exerc  Exercisable Shares | Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years) | A  | eighted<br>Average<br>Exercise<br>Price | A  | ggregate<br>Intrinsic<br>Value<br>(\$000) |
|--------------------------------|------------------------------------|---|----|---|----|---|-----------------------------------|---|----|---|----|---|
| \$8.57 - \$14.70               | 1,466,454                          | 1.90  | \$ | 12.12                                   | \$ | 53,441                                    | 1,466,311                         | 1.90  | \$ | 12.12                                   | \$ | 53,435                                    |
| \$17.98 - \$40.69              | 1,384,820                          | 5.43  |    | 20.88                                   |    | 38,339                                    | 1,375,277                         | 5.42  |    | 20.74                                   |    | 38,265                                    |
| \$8.57 - \$40.69               | 2,851,274                          | 3.61  |    | 16.37                                   | \$ | 91,780                                    | 2,841,588                         | 3.60  |    | 16.29                                   | \$ | 91,700                                    |
| Vested or Expected to<br>Vest: |                                    |   |    |   |    |   |                                   |   |    |   |    |   |
| \$8.57 - \$40.69               | 2,850,387                          | 3.61  | \$ | 16.36                                   | \$ | 91,773                                    |                                   |   |    |   |    |   |

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value, based on our closing stock price of \$48.56 on September 30, 2009, which would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date.

As of September 30, 2009, the total amount of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested stock options was approximately \$32,000. We expect to recognize this expense over a weighted average period of approximately three

months.

#### 9. Related Party Transactions

In February 1999, in conjunction with the expiration of options granted under the 1989 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, we entered into a Deferred Compensation Agreement (the Agreement) with Don Phillips, an officer of Morningstar. Under the terms of the Agreement, on any date that Don exercised the right to purchase shares under the 1999 Plan, we paid to him \$2.69 per share in the form of cash or, at our election, shares of common stock. The obligation to pay deferred compensation was not increased by any imputed interest or earnings amount.

As of December 31, 2008, our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet included a liability of \$82,000 for the Agreement. This amount was paid to Don in the first nine months of 2009 in accordance with the Agreement.

#### 10. Income Taxes

The following table shows our effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008:

|  | Three | months ended S | Septe | mber 30 | Nin | r <b>30</b> |         |
|--|-------|----------------|-------|---------|-----|-------------|---------|
| (\$000)                                  |       | 2009           | -     | 2008    |     | 2009        | 2008    |
| Income before income taxes and equity in |       |                |       |         |     |             |         |
| net income of unconsolidated entities    | \$    | 34,476         | \$    | 35,503  | \$  | 104,295 \$  | 114,696 |
| Equity in net income of unconsolidated   |       |                |       |         |     |             |         |
| entities                                 |       | 429            |       | 268     |     | 790         | 1,065   |
| Net (income) loss attributable to        |       |                |       |         |     |             |         |
| noncontrolling interests                 |       | 22             |       | (37)    |     | 40          | (372)   |
| Total                                    | \$    | 34,927         | \$    | 35,734  | \$  | 105,125 \$  | 115,389 |
| Income tax expense                       | \$    | 12,407         | \$    | 13,547  | \$  | 37,099 \$   | 42,127  |
| Effective tax rate                       |       | 35.5%          |       | 37.9%   | 6   | 35.3%       | 36.5%   |

Our effective tax rate decreased by 2.4 percentage points in the third quarter of 2009 and 1.2 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009. The lower effective tax rate reflects the use of approximately \$2,100,000 of tax credits from previous years. These tax credits favorably impacted our tax rate by approximately 6 percentage points in the quarter and 2 percentage points for the year-to-date. The effective tax rate for the first nine months of 2009 also reflects the favorable impact of reversing \$2,145,000 in reserves for uncertain tax positions. Of these, \$1,420,000 occurred in the first quarter as a result of a lapse in the statute of limitations and \$725,000 occurred because of settlements and other audit activity. These items were partially offset by the impact of the non-deductible deposit penalty expense, which increased our year-to-date effective tax rate by approximately 1.3 percentage points, and the impact of foreign taxes.

As of September 30, 2009, our Consolidated Balance Sheet includes a current liability of \$449,000 and a non-current liability of \$3,689,000 for unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2008, our Consolidated Balance Sheet included a current liability of \$3,983,000 and a non-current liability of \$3,756,000 for unrecognized tax benefits. These amounts include interest and penalties, less any associated tax benefits. The decrease in the liability from December 31, 2008 primarily reflects the reversal of approximately \$2,145,000 of reserves for uncertain tax positions, which reduced our effective tax rate, and \$1,456,000 of cash settlement payments.

We conduct business globally and as a result, we file income tax returns in U.S. Federal, state, local, and foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business we are subject to examination by tax authorities throughout the world. The open tax years for our U.S. Federal tax return include the years 2005 to the present. Most of our state tax returns have open tax years from 2006 to the present. In non-U.S. jurisdictions, the statute of limitations generally extends to years before 2003.

We are currently being audited by the U.S. federal and various state and local tax authorities in the United States as well as tax authorities in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions. It is likely that the examination phase of some of these audits will conclude in 2009. It is not possible to estimate the impact of current audits on previously recorded unrecognized tax benefits.

Our effective tax rate reflects the fact that we are not recording an income tax benefit related to losses recorded by certain of our non-U.S. operations. The net operating losses (NOLs) may become deductible in certain non-U.S. tax jurisdictions to the extent these non-U.S. operations become profitable. In the year certain non-U.S. entities record a loss, we do not record a corresponding tax benefit, thus increasing our effective tax rate. For each of our operations, we evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the tax benefits related to NOLs will be realized. As part of this evaluation, we consider evidence such as tax planning strategies, historical operating results, forecasted taxable income, and recent financial performance. Upon determining that it is more likely than not that the NOLs will be realized, we reduce the tax valuation allowances related to these NOLs, which results in a reduction to our income tax expense and our effective tax rate in the period.

#### 11. Contingencies

Estimated Penalties Related to the Timing of Deposits for Taxes Withheld on Non-Qualified Stock Option Exercises

In the second quarter of 2009, we recorded an operating expense of \$3,500,000 for estimated penalties related to the timing of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises from 2006 through June 30, 2009. We recorded this operating expense and the related liability in accordance with FASB ASC 450, *Contingencies*. For some companies, including Morningstar, it is common practice for taxes withheld on stock-based compensation to be paid with the company s regularly scheduled payroll deposit. This approach, however, does not technically comply with Internal Revenue Service guidelines concerning deposits of taxes withheld in connection with stock-based compensation, which generally require that if a company s cumulative deposit liability for all compensation exceeds \$100,000, the tax withholding must be deposited by the following business day. Transactions related to

#### **Table of Contents**

stock-based compensation frequently cause companies to exceed this threshold outside of their regularly scheduled payroll cycles, thus triggering the accelerated deposit rules. The subject of tax deposit penalties is part of an ongoing IRS audit that began in 2009. We have since increased the frequency of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises.

NewRiver, Inc.

In January 2009, NewRiver, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts against Morningstar, Inc. alleging that Morningstar inappropriately accessed its data in order to build a competing product to deliver SEC-filed mutual fund disclosure documents online. In February 2009, the case was removed to the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts. In September 2009, Morningstar and NewRiver resolved the litigation. Morningstar has agreed not to engage in the conduct that NewRiver alleges prompted it to file suit, and NewRiver has agreed to dismiss its lawsuit. The settlement does not include any payments by either party, and Morningstar maintains its denial of NewRiver's allegations. All other settlement terms are confidential.

Morningstar Associates, LLC Subpoenas from the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Department of Labor, and the New York Attorney General s Office

Securities and Exchange Commission

In February 2005, Morningstar Associates, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Morningstar, Inc., received a request from the SEC for the voluntary production of documents relating to the investment consulting services the company offers to retirement plan providers, including fund lineup recommendations for retirement plan sponsors. In July 2005, the SEC issued a subpoena to Morningstar Associates that was virtually identical to its February 2005 request.

Subsequently, the SEC focused on disclosure relating to an optional service offered to retirement plan sponsors (employers) that select 401(k) plan services from ING, one of Morningstar Associates clients. In response to the SEC investigation, ING and Morningstar Associates revised certain documents for plan sponsors to further clarify the roles of ING and Morningstar Associates in providing that service. The revisions also help reinforce that Morningstar Associates makes its selections only from funds available within ING s various retirement products.

In January 2007, the SEC notified Morningstar Associates that it ended its investigation, with no enforcement action, fines, or penalties.

United States Department of Labor

In May 2005, Morningstar Associates received a subpoena from the United States Department of Labor, seeking information and documents related to an investigation the Department of Labor was conducting. The Department of Labor subpoena was substantially similar in scope to the SEC subpoena.

In January 2007, the Department of Labor issued a request for additional documents pursuant to the May 2005 subpoena, including documents and information regarding Morningstar Associates retirement advice products for plan participants.

In September 2009, the Department of Labor notified Morningstar Associates that it ended its investigation, with no enforcement action, fines, or penalties.

New York Attorney General s Office

In December 2004, Morningstar Associates received a subpoena from the New York Attorney General s office seeking information and documents related to an investigation the New York Attorney General s office is conducting. The request is similar in scope to the SEC and Department of Labor subpoenas described above. Morningstar Associates has provided the requested information and documents.

In January 2007, Morningstar Associates received a Notice of Proposed Litigation from the New York Attorney General soffice. The Notice centers on the same issues that became the focus of the SEC investigation described above. The Notice gave Morningstar Associates the opportunity to explain why the New York Attorney General soffice should not institute proceedings. Morningstar Associates promptly submitted its explanation and has cooperated fully with the New York Attorney General soffice.

We cannot predict the scope, timing, or outcome of this matter, which may include the institution of administrative, civil, injunctive, or criminal proceedings, the imposition of fines and penalties, and other remedies and sanctions, any of which could lead to an

adverse impact on our stock price, the inability to attract or retain key employees, and the loss of customers. We also cannot predict what impact, if any, this matter may have on our business, operating results, or financial condition.

#### 12. Subsequent Events

Increased Ownership Interest in Morningstar Korea

In October 2009, we acquired an additional 20% interest in Morningstar Korea Co., Ltd., increasing our ownership to 80% from 60% as of September 30, 2009. Morningstar Korea develops, markets, and sells products and services for analyzing financial portfolios and provides financial information and services for investments in South Korea. The company also provides consulting and advisory services through its subsidiary, Morningstar Associates Korea.

Online News Link LLC

In October 2009, Online News Link LLC filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against Morningstar, Inc. and several other providers of online information alleging that each defendant infringes U.S. Patent No. 7,508,789, which relates to ways for delivering online information. Online News Link seeks, among other things, unspecified damages and costs incurred by Online News Link because of defendants infringing activities. The complaint does not include specific allegations against Morningstar. Morningstar is evaluating the lawsuit but cannot predict the outcome of this matter at this time.

We evaluated events for potential recognition and disclosure in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q through November 4, 2009, the date the financial statements were issued.

#### 13. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement 140, and SFAS No.167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R).

These accounting pronouncements change the way entities account for transfers of financial assets and determine what entities must be consolidated. The most significant amendment resulting from SFAS No. 166 consists of the removal of the concept of a Qualifying Special-Purpose Entity (QSPE) from SFAS No. 140.

SFAS No. 167 addresses the effects of eliminating the QSPE concept from SFAS No. 140 and responds to concerns about the application of certain key provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46(R))*, including concerns over the transparency of enterprises involvement with Variable Interest Entities (VIEs).

For Morningstar, both SFAS No. 166 and SFAS No.167 will be effective beginning January 1, 2010. We are in the process of determining the impact, if any, these accounting pronouncements will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 166 and SFAS No. 167 have not been incorporated into the FASB Accounting Standards Codification as of November 4, 2009.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-13, *Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements.* ASU 2009-13 supersedes EITF Issue 00-21, *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.* ASU 2009-13 establishes the accounting and reporting guidance for arrangements when a vendor performs multiple revenue-generating activities, addresses how to separate deliverables, and how to measure and allocate arrangement consideration. Vendors often provide multiple products or services to customers. As products and services are often provided at different points in time or over different time periods within the same contractual arrangement. This guidance enables vendors to account for products or services separately rather than as a combined unit.

Also in October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, *Software (Topic 985): Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements*, and affects vendors that sell or lease tangible products in an arrangement that contains software that is more than incidental to the tangible product as a whole. ASU No. 2009-14 does not affect software revenue arrangements that do not include tangible products. They also do not affect software revenue arrangements that include services if the software is essential to the functionality of those services.

# Table of Contents

For Morningstar, ASU No. 2009-13 and ASU No. 2009-14 will be effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into from January 1, 2011. Early adoption is permitted. We are in the process of determining the impact, if any, these accounting standard updates will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

27

# Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The discussion included in this section, as well as other sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, contains forward-looking statements as that term is used in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on our current expectations about future events or future financial performance. Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain, and often contain words such as may, could, expect, intend. anticipate. believe. estimate, predict, potential, or continue. These statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause the events we discuss not to occur or to differ significantly from what we expect. For us, these risks and uncertainties include, among others, general industry conditions and competition, including the current global financial crisis that began in 2007; the impact of market volatility on revenue from asset-based fees; damage to our reputation resulting from claims made about possible conflicts of interest; liability for any losses that result from an actual or claimed breach of our fiduciary duties; financial services industry consolidation; a prolonged outage of our database and network facilities; challenges faced by our non-U.S. operations; and the availability of free or low-cost investment information.

A more complete description of these risks and uncertainties can be found in our other filings with the SEC, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. If any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, our actual future results may vary significantly from what we expect. We do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements as a result of new information or future events.

All dollar and percentage comparisons, which are often accompanied by words such as increase, decrease, grew, declined, was up, was down, was flat, or was similar, refer to a comparison with the same period in the prior year unless otherwise stated.

# **Understanding Our Company**

#### **Our Business**

Our mission is to create great products that help investors reach their financial goals. We offer an extensive line of Internet, software, and print-based products for individual investors, financial advisors, and institutional clients. We also offer asset management services for advisors, institutions, and retirement plan participants. Many of our products are sold through subscriptions or license agreements. As a result, we typically generate recurring revenue.

We emphasize a decentralized approach to running our business to create a culture of responsibility and accountability. Beginning in 2009, we changed our segment reporting to focus on two operating segments: Investment Information, which includes all of our data, software, and research products and services, and Investment Management, which includes our asset management operations.

Historically, we have focused primarily on organic growth by introducing new products and services and expanding our existing products. However, we have made and expect to continue to make selective acquisitions that support our five key growth strategies, which are:

- Enhance our position in each of our key market segments by focusing on our three major Internet-based platforms;
- Become a global leader in funds-of-funds investment management;
- Continue building thought leadership in independent investment research;
- Create a premier global investment database; and
- Expand our international brand presence, products, and services.

#### **Industry Overview**

We monitor developments in the economic and financial information industry on an ongoing basis and use these insights to help inform our company strategy, product development plans, and marketing initiatives.

The U.S. equity market generally showed strong performance in the third quarter of 2009, continuing the positive trend from the second quarter. Morningstar s U.S. Market Index, a broad market benchmark, was up 16.2% during the quarter and 21.2% for the first nine months of 2009. Total U.S. mutual fund assets increased to \$10.8 trillion as of September 30, 2009 based on data from the Investment Company Institute (ICI), up slightly from \$10.6 trillion as of September 30, 2008.

Despite the more positive market environment, alternative asset classes, such as hedge funds, continued to show mixed results. In aggregate, hedge funds included in Morningstar s database, excluding funds of hedge funds, experienced net outflows of about \$58 billion for the year-to-date period through August 30, 2009.

Assets in exchange-traded funds (ETFs) increased to \$693 billion as of September 2009, compared with \$580 billion as of September 2008, based on data from the ICI.

Based on data from Nielsen/Net Ratings, aggregate page views, unique users, and pages viewed per visit for financial and investment sites declined by about 5% to 10% compared with the third quarter of 2008, while the amount of time spent per visit decreased slightly. We attribute these trends to the unusual level of market volatility in 2008, which increased investor interest in financial and investment sites in the year-ago period. Although unique users for Morningstar.com also declined in the third quarter of 2009, the site continued to perform well based on metrics such as pages viewed per visit and time spent per visit.

Economic uncertainty continued to weigh on the global advertising market. Some industry researchers, including Emarketer, Cowen and Company, and the Interactive Advertising Bureau, have revised their forecasts for global advertising sales to project continued downturns in 2009. Although online advertising has held up better than other areas as advertisers have continued to shift spending from traditional media to the Internet, we believe that spending in the financial services area remains under pressure. Following this year s downturn in advertising sales, several industry surveys have projected moderate increases in overall ad spending in 2010.

Overall, we remain cautious because of the difficult market environment, which has persisted in the wake of the financial crisis that began in 2007. Despite the recent upturn in the U.S. equity market, we believe asset management firms and other financial services companies continue to carefully scrutinize their spending levels, creating additional pricing pressure and increasing the time required to close new business and renewals. On the positive side, however, we believe some of the uncertainty in the financial services sector began easing during 2009.

### Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2009 vs. Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2008

#### **Consolidated Results**

|                         | Thre | e Months End | ded S | eptember 30 | Nine      | Nine Months Ended September 30 |    |          |         |  |  |  |
|-------------------------|------|--------------|-------|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|----|----------|---------|--|--|--|
| Key Metrics (\$000)     |      | 2009         |       | 2008        | Change    | 2009                           |    | 2008     | Change  |  |  |  |
| Revenue                 | \$   | 120,088      | \$    | 125,505     | (4.3)% \$ | 356,353                        | \$ | 383,186  | (7.0)%  |  |  |  |
| Operating income        |      | 33,683       |       | 34,176      | (1.4)%    | 100,996                        |    | 110,431  | (8.5)%  |  |  |  |
| Operating margin        |      | 28.0%        |       | 27.2%       | 0.8pp     | 28.3%                          |    | 28.8%    | (0.5)pp |  |  |  |
|                         |      |              |       |             |           |                                |    |          |         |  |  |  |
| Cash used for investing |      |              |       |             |           |                                |    |          |         |  |  |  |
| activities              | \$   | (39,247)     | \$    | (28,235)    | 39.0% \$  | (76,102)                       | \$ | (61,339) | 24.1%   |  |  |  |
|                         |      | 3,778        |       | 9,388       | (59.8)%   | 19,797                         |    | 39,322   | (49.7)% |  |  |  |

Cash provided by financing activities

| Cash provided by     |              |              |            |          |              |         |
|----------------------|--------------|--------------|------------|----------|--------------|---------|
| operating activities | \$<br>36,066 | \$<br>49,245 | (26.8)% \$ | 67,333   | \$<br>98,364 | (31.5)% |
| Capital expenditures | (3,518)      | (11,936)     | (70.5)%    | (10,286) | (29,290)     | (64.9)% |
| Free cash flow       | \$<br>32,548 | \$<br>37,309 | (12.8)% \$ | 57,047   | \$<br>69,074 | (17.4)% |

NMF not meaningful

pp percentage points

We define free cash flow as cash provided by or used for operating activities less capital expenditures. We present free cash flow solely as supplemental disclosure to help investors better understand how much cash is available after we spend money to operate our business. Our management team uses free cash flow to evaluate the performance of our business. Free cash flow is not a measure of performance set forth under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Also, the free cash flow definition we use may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

Because we ve made several acquisitions in recent years, comparing our financial results from year to year is complex. To make it easier for investors to compare our results in different periods, we provide information on both revenue from acquisitions and organic revenue, which reflects our underlying business excluding revenue from acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency

translations. We include an acquired operation as part of our revenue from acquisitions for the first12 months after we complete the acquisition. After that, we include it as part of our organic revenue.

Consolidated organic revenue (revenue excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations) is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. The definition of organic revenue we use may not be the same as similarly titled measures used by other companies. Organic revenue should not be considered an alternative to any measure of performance as promulgated under GAAP.

The table below shows the period in which we included each acquired operation in revenue from acquisitions.

| Acquisition  | 2009 Revenue from Acquisitions          |
|--|---|
| Hemscott data, media, and investor relations Web site businesses     | January 1 through January 8, 2009       |
| Financial Computer Support, Inc.                                     | January 1 through September 1, 2009     |
| Fundamental Data Limited   | January 1 through September 30, 2009    |
| 10-K Wizard Technology, LLC  | January 1 through September 30, 2009    |
| Tenfore Systems Limited  | January 1 through September 30, 2009    |
| InvestData (Proprietary) Limited                                     | January 1 through September 30, 2009    |
| Global financial filings database business of Global Reports LLC     | April 20 through September 30, 2009     |
| Equity research and data business of C.P.M.S. Computerized Portfolio | May 1 through September 30, 2009        |
| Management Services Inc.   |   |
| Andex Associates, Inc.   | May 1 through September 30, 2009        |
| Intech Pty Ltd   | June 30 through September 30, 2009      |
| Morningstar Korea Co., Ltd.  | September 10 through September 30, 2009 |

#### **Consolidated Revenue**

In the third quarter of 2009, our consolidated revenue decreased 4.3% to \$120.1 million. Revenue for the first nine months of the year fell 7.0% to \$356.4 million. The majority of the revenue decline in both the three- and nine-month periods was driven by our Investment Consulting business, which suffered because of the impact of two client non-renewals that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2008 and May 2009, respectively. The expiration of the Global Analyst Research Settlement term in July 2009 also contributed to the consolidated revenue decline in the quarter.

Revenue from acquisitions partially offset the revenue declines in both the quarter and year-to-date periods. Acquisitions contributed about 7.4 percentage points to our consolidated revenue growth in the quarter and 5.7 percentage points through the first nine months of 2009. The impact of foreign currency translations reduced revenue by about 1.6 percentage points in the quarter and 3.3 percentage points year to date. Currency movements had a negative effect in the quarter, as the U.S. dollar was stronger against most other major currencies compared with the prior-year period. The impact of currency movements in the quarter was not as significant as in the first half of the year, though, as most major currencies strengthened against the U.S. dollar in recent months.

International revenue continues to increase as a percentage of our consolidated revenue and rose about 13% in the third quarter, including about \$8.0 million from acquisitions.

The table below reconciles consolidated revenue with organic revenue (revenue excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations):

|                               | Thr | ee Months En | ded S | eptember 30 | Nine       | ptember 30 |    |         |        |
|-------------------------------|-----|--------------|-------|-------------|------------|------------|----|---------|--------|
| (\$000)                       |     | 2009         |       | 2008        | Change     | 2009       |    | 2008    | Change |
| Consolidated revenue          | \$  | 120,088      | \$    | 125,505     | (4.3)% \$  | 356,353    | \$ | 383,186 | (7.0)% |
| Less: acquisitions            |     | (9,342)      |       |             | NMF        | (22,002)   |    |         | NMF    |
| Unfavorable impact of         |     |              |       |             |            |            |    |         |        |
| foreign currency translations |     | 1,969        |       |             | NMF        | 12,697     |    |         | NMF    |
| Organic revenue               | \$  | 112,715      | \$    | 125,505     | (10.2)% \$ | 347,048    | \$ | 383,186 | (9.4)% |

The table below shows our consolidated revenue by segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2008:

|                            | Th  | ree Months E | nded Septe | mb | er 30   | N         | Nine Months Ended September 30 |           |         |        |  |  |  |
|----------------------------|-----|--------------|------------|----|---------|-----------|--------------------------------|-----------|---------|--------|--|--|--|
|                            | 200 | 2009         |            |    | 2008    |           | 2009                           |           | 800     |        |  |  |  |
|                            |     |              | % of       |    |         | % of      |                                | % of      |         | % of   |  |  |  |
| Revenue by Segment (\$000) |     | Amount       | total      |    | Amount  | total     | Amount                         | total     | Amount  | total  |  |  |  |
| Investment Information     | \$  | 95,410       | 79.5%      | \$ | 97,075  | 77.3% \$  | 289,389                        | 81.2% \$  | 295,161 | 77.0%  |  |  |  |
| Investment Management      |     | 24,678       | 20.5       |    | 28,430  | 22.7      | 66,964                         | 18.8      | 88,025  | 23.0   |  |  |  |
| Consolidated revenue       | \$  | 120,088      | 100.0%     | \$ | 125,505 | 100.0% \$ | 356,353                        | 100.0% \$ | 383,186 | 100.0% |  |  |  |

Morningstar has two operating segments: Investment Information and Investment Management. The Investment Information segment includes all of our data, software, and research products and services. These products and services are typically sold through subscriptions or license agreements. The Investment Management segment includes all of our asset management operations, which operate as registered investment advisors and earn more than half of their revenue from asset-based fees.

While revenue for the Investment Information segment declined slightly in the third quarter of 2009, revenue in the Investment Management segment was down 13.2% for the same period. Investment Consulting was by far the most significant driver behind the revenue decline as asset-based fees fell. Assets under advisement declined to \$68.2 billion as of September 30, 2009 from \$85.2 billion as of September 30, 2008. The majority of the asset decline reflects the client non-renewals, partially offset by net inflows in assets under advisement and new client wins for Ibbotson Associates as well as positive market performance in 2009.

Revenue from international operations increased \$3.9 million, or 12.9%, to \$34.5 million in the third quarter of 2009. Acquisitions contributed \$7.9 million of additional revenue outside the United States, but that was slightly offset by the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, which reduced international revenue by \$2.0 million. Excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations, international revenue decreased approximately 6.4%.

Revenue from international operations decreased slightly to \$93.4 million in the first nine months of 2009. Acquisitions contributed \$16.7 million of incremental revenue outside the United States, but this additional revenue was offset by the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, which reduced international revenue by \$12.7 million. Excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations, international revenue decreased approximately 4.5%.

International organic revenue (international revenue excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations) is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. The definition of international organic revenue we use may not be the same as similarly titled measures used by other companies. International organic revenue should not be considered an alternative to any measure of performance as promulgated under GAAP. The tables below present a reconciliation from international revenue to international organic revenue (international revenue excluding acquisitions and the impact of foreign currency translations):

|                               | Thr | ee Months En | ded Se | eptember 30 | Nine Months Ended September 30 |          |    |        |        |  |
|-------------------------------|-----|--------------|--------|-------------|--------------------------------|----------|----|--------|--------|--|
| (\$000)                       |     | 2009         |        | 2008        | Change                         | 2009     |    | 2008   | Change |  |
| International revenue         | \$  | 34,540       | \$     | 30,581      | 12.9% \$                       | 93,371   | \$ | 93,565 | (0.2)% |  |
| Less: acquisitions            |     | (7,888)      |        |             | NMF                            | (16,742) |    |        | NMF    |  |
| Unfavorable impact of foreign |     |              |        |             |                                |          |    |        |        |  |
| currency translations         |     | 1,969        |        |             | NMF                            | 12,697   |    |        | NMF    |  |
| International organic revenue | \$  | 28.621       | \$     | 30.581      | (6.4)% \$                      | 89.326   | \$ | 93.565 | (4.5)% |  |

#### **Consolidated Operating Expense**

|                   | Thre | e Months En | ded S | eptember 30 | Nine Months Ended September 30 |         |    |         |        |  |
|-------------------|------|-------------|-------|-------------|--------------------------------|---------|----|---------|--------|--|
| (\$000)           |      | 2009        |       | 2008        | Change                         | 2009    |    | 2008    | Change |  |
| Operating expense | \$   | 86,405      | \$    | 91,329      | (5.4)% \$                      | 255,357 | \$ | 272,755 | (6.4)% |  |
| % of revenue      |      | 72.0%       |       | 72.8%       | (0.8)pp                        | 71.7%   |    | 71.2%   | 0.5pp  |  |

In the third quarter of 2009, our consolidated operating expense decreased \$4.9 million, or 5.4%. For the first nine months of 2009, operating expense decreased \$17.4 million, or 6.4%. To better align operating expense with revenue in a challenging business environment, we took a number of steps to reduce costs beginning in 2008, with the largest cutbacks effective January 1, 2009. We changed our bonus plan in 2009 to reduce bonus expense, our single largest discretionary cost. As a result, bonus expense was down about \$8.0 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$24.0 million in the first nine months of 2009. The significant reduction in bonus expense also reflects a slowdown in our financial performance in 2009 compared with 2008.

We also suspended matching contributions to our 401(k) program in the United States, which reduced operating expense by about \$1.3 million in the third quarter and \$5.4 million in the first nine months of 2009. In addition, we reduced discretionary spending in travel, advertising, marketing, and data purchases. Travel costs were about \$2.6 million lower in the quarter and \$4.2 million lower in the first nine months of the year. Advertising and marketing costs declined by \$0.9 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$4.4 million in the first nine months of 2009 compared with the same periods a year ago. We ve been carefully evaluating spending in this area and cutting back on programs that don t generate positive returns. In addition, we discontinued three publications previously published in the first nine months of the year, which contributed to lower marketing expense for the first nine months of 2009. During the quarter, we revised our preliminary purchase price allocations related to recent acquisitions, resulting in a \$1.7 million reduction of previously recorded intangible amortization expense. Intangible amortization expense was \$3.1 million in the third quarter and \$13.8 million year to date.

Partially offsetting these cost reductions were incremental costs from acquisitions, additional rent expense to increase a liability related to vacant office space, and an operating expense recorded in the second quarter for estimated penalties related to the timing of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises.

We completed six acquisitions in 2008 and four in the first nine months of 2009. Because of the timing of these acquisitions, our results for the third quarter and first nine months of 2009 include operating expense that did not exist in the same periods last year. Headcount and salary expense also increased year over year, partly because of incremental employees added through acquisitions. We had approximately 2,490 employees worldwide as of September 30, 2009, a 10.7% increase from the same period a year ago. We added approximately 170 employees through acquisitions over the 12 months ending September 30, 2009. The remainder of the increase in headcount reflects continued hiring for our development center in China.

In the third quarter of 2009, we recorded an expense of \$2.4 million to increase our liability for vacant office space, primarily for the former lbbotson headquarters. We increased the liability related to this vacant office space because we anticipate receiving lower sublease income and expect it will take more time than previously estimated to identify a tenant.

Operating expense for the first nine months of 2009 includes a \$3.5 million operating expense recorded in the second quarter of 2009 for estimated penalties we expect to incur related to the timing of deposits for taxes withheld on stock-option exercises from 2006 through September 30, 2009. The expense impacted each of our operating expense categories, with approximately half recorded as general and administrative expense. For some companies, including Morningstar, it is common practice for taxes withheld on stock-based compensation to be paid with the company s regularly scheduled payroll deposit. This approach, however, does not technically comply with Internal Revenue Service guidelines concerning deposits of taxes withheld in connection with stock-based compensation, which generally require that if a company s cumulative deposit liability for all compensation exceeds \$100,000, the tax withholding must be deposited by the following business day. Transactions related to stock-based compensation frequently cause companies to exceed this threshold outside of their regularly scheduled payroll cycles, thus triggering the accelerated deposit rules. The subject of tax deposit penalties is part of an ongoing IRS audit that began in 2009. We believe our approach was reasonable and the potential penalties are excessive considering our long record of making tax deposit payments with our regularly scheduled semi-monthly payroll. We have since increased the frequency of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises.

#### Cost of Goods Sold

|               | Thre | e Months Ende | d Sep | tember 30 | Nine      | Nine Months Ended September 30 |    |         |         |  |  |
|---------------|------|---------------|-------|-----------|-----------|--------------------------------|----|---------|---------|--|--|
| (\$000)       |      | 2009          |       | 2008      | Change    | 2009                           | -  | 2008    | Change  |  |  |
| Cost of goods |      |               |       |           |           |                                |    |         |         |  |  |
| sold          | \$   | 31,954        | \$    | 32,828    | (2.7)% \$ | 92,900                         | \$ | 98,930  | (6.1)%  |  |  |
| % of revenue  |      | 26.6%         |       | 26.2%     | 0.4pp     | 26.1%                          |    | 25.8%   | 0.3pp   |  |  |
| Gross profit  | \$   | 88,134        | \$    | 92,677    | (4.9)% \$ | 263,453                        | \$ | 284,256 | (7.3)%  |  |  |
| Gross margin  |      | 73.4%         |       | 73.8%     | (0.4)pp   | 73.9%                          |    | 74.2%   | (0.3)pp |  |  |

Cost of goods sold is our largest category of operating expense, accounting for more than one-third of our total operating expense in both 2009 and 2008. Our business relies heavily on human capital, and cost of goods sold includes the compensation expense for employees who produce our products and services.

Cost of goods sold was down \$0.8 million in the third quarter and \$6.0 million in the first nine months of 2009, with the majority of the decline driven by lower bonus expense and lower costs of data purchases, partially offset by incremental costs from acquisitions.

Our third-quarter 2009 gross margin decreased slightly to 73.4%, compared with 73.8% in the third quarter of 2008. The year-to-date gross margin decreased slightly to 73.9% compared with 74.2% in the same period in 2008.

#### Development Expense

|                     | Three | Months E | nded S | eptember 30 | Nine      | ptember 30 |    |        |        |
|---------------------|-------|----------|--------|-------------|-----------|------------|----|--------|--------|
| (\$000)             |       | 2009     |        | 2008        | Change    | 2009       |    | 2008   | Change |
| Development expense | \$    | 9,447    | \$     | 10,271      | (8.0)% \$ | 28,185     | \$ | 30,187 | (6.6)% |
| % of revenue        |       | 7.9%     |        | 8.2%        | (0.3)pp   | 7.9%       |    | 7.9%   | , ,    |

Development expense decreased \$0.9 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$2.0 million in the first nine months of 2009. The impact of lower bonus expense was partially offset by incremental costs from acquisitions, primarily compensation-related costs. As a percentage of revenue, development expense decreased modestly in the third quarter and was flat in the first nine months of 2009.

Sales and Marketing Expense

|         | Three Months Ended S | eptember 30 |        | Nine Months Ended Se | ptember 30 |        |
|---------|----------------------|-------------|--------|----------------------|------------|--------|
| (\$000) | 2009                 | 2008        | Change | 2009                 | 2008       | Change |

Edgar Filing: Morningstar, Inc. - Form 10-Q

| Sales and marketing |              |              |           |        |              |         |
|---------------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|--------|--------------|---------|
| expense             | \$<br>17,730 | \$<br>19,457 | (8.9)% \$ | 53,276 | \$<br>62,547 | (14.8)% |
| % of revenue        | 14.8%        | 15.5%        | (0.7)pp   | 15.0%  | 16.3%        | (1.3)pp |

Sales and marketing expense decreased \$1.8 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$9.2 million in the first nine months of 2009. About half of the decline reflects lower spending on advertising and marketing, which we reduced from higher levels in 2008 because of the challenging business environment. In 2009, we also discontinued three of the publications we previously published in the first quarter of each year *Morningstar Funds 500*, *Morningstar Stocks 500*, and *Morningstar ETFs 150* and therefore didn t incur costs to promote these publications. This contributed to the decline in the first nine months of 2009. Lower bonus expense and other compensation costs also contributed to lower sales and marketing expense in the third quarter.

As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expense decreased 0.7 percentage points in the third quarter and 1.3 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009.

#### General and Administrative Expense

|                            | Three Months Ended September 30 |        |    |        | Nine Months Ended September 30 |           |    |        |         |
|----------------------------|---------------------------------|--------|----|--------|--------------------------------|-----------|----|--------|---------|
| (\$000)                    |                                 | 2009   |    | 2008   | Change                         | 2009      |    | 2008   | Change  |
| General and administrative |                                 |        |    |        |                                |           |    |        |         |
| expense                    | \$                              | 20,643 | \$ | 22,507 | (8.3)%                         | \$ 57,649 | \$ | 62,392 | (7.6)%  |
| % of revenue               |                                 | 17.2%  |    | 17.9%  | (0.7)pp                        | 16.2%     |    | 16.3%  | (0.1)pp |

General and administrative expense decreased \$1.9 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$4.8 million in the first nine months of 2009. Most of the decline reflects lower bonus expense. Decreases in other compensation costs, travel, and other general and administrative costs also contributed to lower expense in this area, but to a lesser extent. These cost reductions were partially offset by the \$2.4 million expense recorded for the vacant office space. Also offsetting these cost reductions was an estimated tax deposit penalty discussed in more detail on page 32, which contributed \$1.8 million to general and administrative expense in the first nine months of 2009.

As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expense decreased 0.7 percentage points in the third quarter of 2009 and was down slightly in the first nine months of 2009.

#### Depreciation and Amortization Expense

|                        | Three | Months En | ded Se | ptember 30 | Nine     | tember 30 |    |        |        |
|------------------------|-------|-----------|--------|------------|----------|-----------|----|--------|--------|
| (\$000)                |       | 2009      |        | 2008       | Change   | 2009      | -  | 2008   | Change |
| Depreciation expense   | \$    | 3,501     | \$     | 2,314      | 51.3% \$ | 9,554     | \$ | 6,634  | 44.0%  |
| Amortization expense   |       | 3,130     |        | 3,952      | (20.8)%  | 13,793    |    | 12,065 | 14.3%  |
| Total depreciation and |       |           |        |            |          |           |    |        |        |
| amortization expense   | \$    | 6,631     | \$     | 6,266      | 5.8% \$  | 23,347    | \$ | 18,699 | 24.9%  |
| % of revenue           |       | 5.5%      |        | 5.0%       | 0.5pp    | 6.6%      |    | 4.9%   | 1.7pp  |

Depreciation expense rose \$1.2 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$3.0 million in the first nine months of 2009, primarily from higher depreciation expense associated with the new corporate headquarters.

Amortization expense decreased \$0.9 million in the third quarter. During the quarter we revised preliminary purchase price allocations related to recent acquisitions, resulting in a \$1.7 million reduction of previously recorded intangible amortization expense. We expect that amortization of intangible assets will be an ongoing cost for the remaining life of the assets. Based on acquisitions completed through September 30, 2009, we estimate that aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets will be \$18.6 million in 2009 and \$18.1 million in 2010. Our estimates of future amortization expense for intangible assets may be affected by changes to the preliminary purchase price allocations associated with the acquisitions we made in 2008 and 2009.

As a percentage of revenue, depreciation and amortization increased 0.5 percentage points in the third quarter and 1.7 percentage points in the first nine months of the year.

# Stock-Based Compensation Expense

|                          | Three Months Ended September 30 |       |    |       | Nine Months Ended September 30 |       |    |       |        |
|--------------------------|---------------------------------|-------|----|-------|--------------------------------|-------|----|-------|--------|
| (\$000)                  |                                 | 2009  |    | 2008  | Change                         | 2009  |    | 2008  | Change |
| Stock-based compensation |                                 |       |    |       |                                |       |    |       |        |
| expense                  | \$                              | 2,863 | \$ | 2,818 | 1.6% \$                        | 8,656 | \$ | 8,531 | 1.5%   |
| % of revenue             |                                 | 2.4%  |    | 2.2%  | 0.2pp                          | 2.4%  |    | 2.2%  | 0.2pp  |

Stock-based compensation expense was about on par with 2008 levels in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009. It increased slightly as a percentage of revenue compared with the same periods in 2008.

We include stock-based compensation expense in each of our operating expense categories. We began granting restricted stock units (RSUs) in May 2006 and made additional grants in 2007, 2008, and 2009, primarily in the second quarter of each year. We recognize the expense related to RSUs over the vesting period, which is generally four years. We estimate forfeitures of all stock-based awards and typically adjust the estimated forfeitures to actual forfeiture experience in the second quarter, which is when most of our larger equity grants typically vest. In the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, we recorded approximately \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, of additional stock-based compensation expense as a result of these adjustments.

Based on grants made through September 30, 2009, we anticipate that stock-based compensation expense will be \$11.6 million in 2009. This amount is subject to change based on additional equity grants or changes in our estimated forfeiture rate related to these grants.

#### Bonus Expense

|               | Three | Months Er | ded S | eptember 30 | Nine Months Ended September 30 |        |    |        |         |  |
|---------------|-------|-----------|-------|-------------|--------------------------------|--------|----|--------|---------|--|
| (\$000)       |       | 2009      |       | 2008        | Change                         | 2009   | -  | 2008   | Change  |  |
| Bonus expense | \$    | 5,200     | \$    | 13,224      | (60.7)% \$                     | 13,938 | \$ | 37,943 | (63.3)% |  |
| % of revenue  |       | 4.3%      |       | 10.5%       | (6.2)pp                        | 3.9%   |    | 9.9%   | (6.0)pp |  |

Bonus expense, which we include in each of our operating expense categories, declined \$8.0 million in the third quarter and \$24.0 million in the first nine months of 2009. This reduction reflects the changes we made to our bonus program for 2009 as part of our efforts to better align our cost structure with revenue in the challenging business environment. The significant reduction in bonus expense also reflects a slowdown in our financial performance in 2009 compared with 2008.

The size of our bonus pool varies each year based on a number of items, including changes in full-year operating income relative to the previous year and other factors. We review and update our estimates and the bonus pool size quarterly. We record bonus expense throughout the year and pay out annual bonuses to employees in the first quarter of the following year.

As a percentage of revenue, bonus expense declined by 6.2 percentage points in the third quarter and 6.0 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009.

### **Consolidated Operating Income**

|                  | Three | e Months En | ded S | eptember 30 | Nine Months Ended September 30 |         |    |         |         |  |
|------------------|-------|-------------|-------|-------------|--------------------------------|---------|----|---------|---------|--|
| (\$000)          |       | 2009        |       | 2008        | Change                         | 2009    |    | 2008    | Change  |  |
| Operating income | \$    | 33,683      | \$    | 34,176      | (1.4)% \$                      | 100,996 | \$ | 110,431 | (8.5)%  |  |
| % of revenue     |       | 28.0%       |       | 27.2%       | 0.8pp                          | 28.3%   |    | 28.8%   | (0.5)pp |  |

Consolidated operating income decreased \$0.5 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$9.4 million in the first nine months of 2009. Although we reduced operating expense in several areas with the cost-savings initiatives implemented at the beginning of the year, we also had incremental expense from recent acquisitions. The year-to-date results also include a \$3.5 million operating expense for estimated penalties related to the timing of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises. Despite the decrease in operating income, our operating margin increased by about 0.8 percentage points for the third quarter and was down only slightly in the first nine months of 2009. In the first nine months of 2009, the deposit penalty expense represented approximately 1 percentage point of revenue.

#### **Consolidated Free Cash Flow**

We define free cash flow as cash provided by or used for operating activities less capital expenditures. We present free cash flow solely as supplemental disclosure to help investors better understand how much cash is available after we spend money to operate our business. Our management team uses free cash flow to evaluate the performance of our business. Free cash flow is not a measure of performance set forth under GAAP. Also, the free cash flow definition we use may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

We generated positive free cash flow in both the third quarter and first nine months of 2009. Our free cash flow of \$32.5 million in the third quarter of 2009 reflects cash provided by operating activities of \$36.0 million and capital expenditures of \$3.5 million. Free cash flow of \$57.0 million in the first nine months of 2009 reflects cash provided by operating activities of \$67.3 million and capital expenditures of \$10.3 million.

Free cash flow decreased \$4.8 million in the third quarter and \$12.1 million in the first nine months of 2009. In both periods, lower cash provided from operations was partially offset by lower capital expenditures. In the third quarter, a \$13.2 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities was partially offset by the \$8.4 million decrease in capital expenditures. For the first nine months of 2009, the decrease in free cash flow reflects a \$31.1 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities partially offset by a \$19.0 million decrease in capital expenditures.

Cash provided by operating activities: Cash provided by operating activities decreased \$13.2 million in the quarter and \$31.1 million for the first nine months of 2009. In the third quarter, a lower cash flow benefit from accrued compensation and income taxes contributed to the decline in cash provided by operating activities. Cash provided by operating activities in the third quarter

of 2008 included a \$2.1 million benefit from tenant improvement allowances related to the construction of our new corporate headquarters in Chicago. This benefit did not recur in the third quarter of 2009, further contributing to the decline in cash provided by operations. These items were partially offset by the impact of excess tax benefits. Excess tax benefits have a positive impact on cash provided by financing activities with an equal, but offsetting, impact on cash provided by operations. Excess tax benefits declined \$3.5 million in the quarter, primarily reflecting lower average stock prices when employees exercised stock options and a reduction in the number of options exercised.

The decline in cash provided by operating activities in the first nine months of 2009 reflects a lower cash flow benefit from accrued compensation and income taxes, as well as an increase of \$9.6 million for bonus payments. We made bonus payments of \$58.9 million in the first quarter of 2009, compared with \$49.3 million in the first quarter of 2008. Bonuses paid in the first quarter of 2009 included \$10.0 million in payments deferred from 2007. We revised our bonus program in January 2009 and no longer defer payment of a portion of bonuses recorded in the prior year. In addition, cash provided by operating activities in the first nine months of 2008 included an \$11.4 million benefit from tenant improvement allowances related to the construction of our new corporate headquarters. This benefit did not recur in the first nine months of 2009. Excess tax benefits declined \$16.3 million in the first nine months of 2009, mainly because of a reduction in the number of options exercised and lower average stock prices on the exercise dates.

To provide investors with additional insight into our financial results, we provide a comparison between the change in consolidated net income and the change in cash provided by operating activities:

| (\$000)                             | Three Months E  | Ended September 3<br>2008 | 30<br>Change     | Nine Months E<br>2009 | nded September 3<br>2008 | 30<br>Change      |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|
| Consolidated net income             | \$ 22,498       | \$ 22,224                 | \$ 274           |                       | \$ 73,634                | \$ (5,648)        |
| Adjustments to reconcile            | ,               | · ,                       |                  | ,                     | . ,                      | . , , ,           |
| consolidated net income to net      |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| cash flows from operating           |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| activities:                         |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| Excess tax benefits in              |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| accordance with FASB ASC            |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| 718, Compensation                   | (1,180)         | (4,700)                   | 3,520            | (5,724)               | (22,043)                 | 16,319            |
| Depreciation and amortization       |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| expense                             | 6,631           | 6,266                     | 365              | 23,347                | 18,699                   | 4,648             |
| Stock-based compensation            |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| expense                             | 2,863           | 2,818                     | 45               | 8,656                 | 8,531                    | 125               |
| All other non-cash items            |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| included in net income              | (381)           | (1,586)                   | 1,205            | (2,263)               | (574)                    | (1,689)           |
| Changes in operating assets         |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| and liabilities, net of effects of  |                 |                           |                  |                       |                          |                   |
| acquisitions:                       |                 |                           |                  | (50.007)              | (40.050)                 | (0.044)           |
| Cash paid for bonuses               | (44.000)        | (F. 40.4)                 | (F. 000)         | (58,867)              | (49,253)                 | (9,614)           |
| Cash paid for income taxes          | (11,002)        | (5,104)                   | (5,898)          |                       | (20,356)                 | (4,798)           |
| Accounts receivable                 | 4,209           | 3,043                     | 1,166            | 13,521                | (179)                    | 13,700            |
| Deferred revenue                    | (9,780)         | (8,407)                   | (1,373)          |                       | (1,635)                  | (7,339)           |
| Income taxes current                | 13,605<br>3.637 | 19,107                    | (5,502)          |                       | 47,463                   | (9,310)           |
| Accrued compensation  Deferred rent | -,              | 14,369                    | (10,732)         | ,                     | 34,732                   | (17,659)          |
| Other assets                        | (67)<br>1,865   | 2,093<br>(1,614)          | (2,160)<br>3,479 | (353)<br>2,206        | 11,399<br>(3,460)        | (11,752)<br>5,666 |
| Accounts payable and accrued        | 1,000           | (1,014)                   | 3,479            | ۷,۷00                 | (3,400)                  | 5,000             |
| liabilities                         | 4,005           | 431                       | 3,574            | (2,007)               | 1,428                    | (3,435)           |
| naomues                             | 4,005           | 431                       | 5,574            | (2,007)               | 1,420                    | (5,455)           |

Edgar Filing: Morningstar, Inc. - Form 10-Q

| All other                  | (837)        | 305          | (1,142)           | (267)  | (22)         | (245)          |
|----------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------------|--------|--------------|----------------|
| Cash provided by operating |              |              |                   |        |              |                |
| activities                 | \$<br>36,066 | \$<br>49,245 | \$<br>(13,179) \$ | 67,333 | \$<br>98,364 | \$<br>(31,031) |

In the quarter, and to a greater extent in the year-to-date period, the decline in cash provided by operations was greater than the change in net income. Tenant improvement allowances of \$2.1 million and \$11.4 million received in connection with the build-out of our new headquarters benefited cash flow in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, but did not recur in 2009. The tenant improvement allowance received in 2008 is being amortized as a reduction in office lease expense over the lease term and will be deducted from net income to arrive at cash provided by operating activities. The \$9.6 million increase in bonuses paid in the first quarter of 2009 compared with the first quarter of 2008 also contributed to the difference between net income and cash provided by operations in the year-to-date period. These items were partially offset by the impact of excess tax benefits related to our stock-based compensation.

*Capital expenditures:* Capital expenditures decreased \$8.4 million in the quarter and \$19.0 million in the year-to-date period mainly because of the timing of payments related to our new corporate headquarters.

#### **Segment Results**

|                                | Three Months Ended September 30 |         |    |          | Nine Months Ended September 30 |    |          |    |          |         |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------|----|----------|--------------------------------|----|----------|----|----------|---------|
| Key Metrics (\$000)            |                                 | 2009    |    | 2008     | Change                         |    | 2009     |    | 2008     | Change  |
| Revenue                        |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| Investment Information         | \$                              | 95,410  | \$ | 97,075   | (1.7)%                         | \$ | 289,389  | \$ | 295,161  | (2.0)%  |
| Investment Management          |                                 | 24,678  |    | 28,430   | (13.2)%                        |    | 66,964   |    | 88,025   | (23.9)% |
| Consolidated revenue           | \$                              | 120,088 | \$ | 125,505  | (4.3)%                         | \$ | 356,353  | \$ | 383,186  | (7.0)%  |
|                                |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| Operating income (loss)        |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| Investment Information         | \$                              | 33,298  | \$ | 33,595   | (0.9)%                         | \$ | 107,377  | \$ | 105,580  | 1.7%    |
| Investment Management          |                                 | 14,391  |    | 16,149   | (10.9)%                        |    | 39,280   |    | 48,904   | (19.7)% |
| Intangible amortization and    |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| corporate depreciation expense |                                 | (5,022) |    | (5,144)  | (2.4)%                         |    | (19,357) |    | (15,412) | 25.6%   |
| Corporate unallocated          |                                 | (8,984) |    | (10,424) | (13.8)%                        |    | (26,304) |    | (28,641) | (8.2)%  |
| Consolidated operating income  | \$                              | 33,683  | \$ | 34,176   | (1.4)%                         | \$ | 100,996  | \$ | 110,431  | (8.5)%  |
|                                |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| Operating margin               |                                 |         |    |          |                                |    |          |    |          |         |
| Investment Information         |                                 | 34.9%   |    | 34.6%    | 0.3pp                          |    | 37.1%    |    | 35.8%    | 1.3pp   |
| Investment Management          |                                 | 58.3%   |    | 56.8%    | 1.5pp                          |    | 58.7%    |    | 55.6%    | 3.1pp   |
| Consolidated operating margin  |                                 | 28.0%   |    | 27.2%    | 0.8pp                          |    | 28.3%    |    | 28.8%    | (0.5)pp |

### **Investment Information Segment**

The Investment Information segment includes all of our data, software, and research products and services, which are typically sold through subscriptions or license agreements.

The largest products in this segment based on revenue are Morningstar Licensed Data; Morningstar Advisor Workstation; Morningstar.com; Morningstar Direct; and Morningstar Principia. Licensed Data is a set of investment data spanning all of our investment databases and available through electronic data feeds. Advisor Workstation is a Web-based investment planning system for advisors. Advisor Workstation is available in two editions: one for independent financial advisors and an enterprise edition for financial advisors affiliated with larger firms. Morningstar.com includes both Premium memberships and Internet advertising sales. Morningstar Direct is a Web-based institutional research platform. Principia is our CD-ROM-based investment research and planning software for advisors.

The Investment Information segment also includes Morningstar Equity Research, which we distribute through several channels. Our equity research has been distributed through six major investment banks to meet the requirements for independent research under the Global Analyst Research Settlement, as well as to several other companies that purchase our research for their own use or provide our research to their affiliated financial advisors or to individual investors.

In 2003 and 2004, 12 leading Wall Street investment banks agreed to a \$1.5 billion settlement (the Global Analyst Research Settlement) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the New York Attorney General, and other securities regulators to resolve allegations of undue influence of investment banking interests on securities research. Approximately \$450 million of the \$1.5 billion in fines that the investment banks agreed to pay in the settlement was designated for independent research over a five-year period. Each firm involved in the settlement was required to provide research from at least three providers of independent research that were not engaged in the investment banking industry. The period covered by the Global Analyst Research Settlement expired at the end of July 2009. The investment banks covered by it are no longer required to provide independent investment research to their clients. For further discussion about this issue, see Item 1A Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

We also offer a variety of financial communications and newsletters, real-time data, other investment software, and investment indexes.

In the first nine months of 2009 and 2008, this segment represented 81% and 77%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue.

|                      | Thre | e Months En | ded Se | eptember 30 | Nin       |         |               |        |
|----------------------|------|-------------|--------|-------------|-----------|---------|---------------|--------|
| Key Metrics (\$000)  |      | 2009        |        | 2008        | Change    | 2009    | 2008          | Change |
| Revenue              | \$   | 95,410      | \$     | 97,075      | (1.7)% \$ | 289,389 | \$<br>295,161 | (2.0)% |
| Operating income     | \$   | 33,298      | \$     | 33,595      | (0.9)% \$ | 107,377 | \$<br>105,580 | 1.7%   |
| Operating margin (%) |      | 34.9%       |        | 34.6%       | 0.3pp     | 37.1%   | 35.8%         | 1.3pp  |

Revenue declines in both the quarter and year-to-date periods were partially offset by revenue from acquisitions. Acquisitions contributed \$7.6 million and \$20.3 million of revenue in the quarter and year-to-date periods, respectively.

The decline in revenue related to the Global Analyst Research Settlement (GARS) was a primary driver of the lower revenue in the quarter and year-to-date periods. As mentioned above, the period covered by GARS expired at the end of July 2009, and as previously disclosed, our post-settlement equity research revenue was significantly lower in the third quarter of 2009. GARS revenue was \$1.5 million in the third quarter of 2009, compared with \$5.5 million in the same period a year ago. We entered into new equity research contracts with two of the banks that were clients under GARS; however, these contracts only represent about 10% of the previous annual GARS revenue. In addition, we re continuing to provide broad equity coverage to individual investors, financial advisors, and institutions through a variety of other channels. For further discussion, see Item 1A Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The U.S. version of Morningstar.com, which includes Internet advertising sales and Premium membership subscriptions, was the second-largest driver behind the revenue decline in this segment in both the third quarter and first nine months of 2009. Negative trends in Internet advertising drove almost all of the decrease in this product s revenue. In addition, subscriptions for the Morningstar.com Premium service fell by 23,155 to 155,200 as of September 30, 2009, compared with 178,355 as of September 30, 2008 because of negative trends in subscriber growth and new trials. However, we moderately increased subscription prices for Premium membership in both January 2009 and 2008, which partly offset lower revenue from the subscription decline.

Revenue from our Investment Research products, excluding GARS, also declined in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009, primarily because of lower revenue from publications, including newsletters and books. In the first quarter of 2009, we discontinued three of the print publications we previously published in the first quarter of each year: the *Morningstar Funds 500*, *Morningstar Stocks 500*, and *Morningstar ETFs 150*. Lower advertising revenue from publications sold in Australia and lower revenue from the annual Morningstar Investment Conference held in the second quarter also contributed to the decline in the year-to-date period.

Principia revenue was down in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009. Principia subscriptions totaled 37,365 as of September 30, 2009, a 14% decrease from 43,660 as of September 30, 2008. The decline partly reflects clients migrating from Principia to Advisor Workstation, but also reflects a lower retention rate as the economic environment weakened during the latter part of 2008 and continued in the first nine months of 2009. Advisor Workstation revenue was essentially unchanged in the quarter, but increased in the year-to-date period due to higher revenue in the first half of the year. The number of U.S. licenses for Morningstar Advisor Workstation increased to 153,603 as of September 30, 2009 compared with 151,874 as of December 31, 2008, and were essentially flat compared with 153,398 as of September 30, 2008. Beginning in 2009, Morningstar no longer includes the Site Builder product as part of Advisor Workstation. (The number of Advisor Workstation licenses reported in 2008 has been adjusted to reflect this change. We discuss this change in more detail in the Reclassifications section on page 45.)

Increased revenue from Morningstar Direct in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009 partially offset the lower revenue of other products in this segment. The number of licenses for Morningstar Direct grew 17% to 3,329 worldwide as of September 30, 2009, compared with 2,843 as of September 30, 2008.

In the third quarter of 2009, operating income for the Investment Information segment was \$33.3 million, a slight decrease compared with the third quarter of 2008. In the first nine months of 2009, operating income increased \$1.8 million, or 1.7%.

Operating expense decreased \$1.4 million and \$7.6 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009, respectively, as cost reductions for discretionary expense such as bonuses, advertising, and marketing were partially offset by additional operating expense from acquisitions. Bonus expense declined \$3.6 million in the quarter and \$10.2 million year to date. Most of this reduction reflects the changes we made to our bonus program for 2009 as part of our efforts to better align our cost structure with revenue in the challenging business environment. The reduction in bonus expense also reflects a slowdown in our financial performance in 2009 compared with 2008. Other compensation-related expense was down, primarily because we suspended matching contributions to our 401(k) plan in the United States, reducing operating expense by about \$0.9 million in this segment in the third quarter and \$3.4 million in the first nine months of 2009.

Sales and marketing costs decreased in the third quarter and the first nine months of 2009, with the magnitude greater in the first three months of the year. Most of the decline reflects lower spending on advertising and marketing and lower travel costs, which we pared back because of the challenging business environment. In 2009, we also discontinued three of the publications we previously published in the first quarter of each year *Morningstar Funds 500*, *Morningstar Stocks 500*, and *Morningstar ETFs 150* and therefore didn't incur costs to promote these publications in the first nine months of 2009.

Our Investment Information segment operating margin improved slightly in the third quarter and improved 1.3 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009. Operating expense reductions including lower bonus expense, advertising, and marketing as a percentage of revenue outpaced the revenue decline. This margin expansion was partially offset by the impact of acquisitions in the quarter and year-to-date periods.

### **Investment Management Segment**

The Investment Management segment includes all of our asset management operations, which operate as registered investment advisors and earn more than half of their revenue from asset-based fees.

The key products and services in this segment based on revenue are Investment Consulting, which focuses on investment monitoring and asset allocation for funds of funds, including mutual funds and variable annuities; Retirement Advice, including the Morningstar Retirement Manager and Advice by Ibbotson platforms; and Morningstar Managed Portfolios, a fee-based discretionary asset management service that includes a series of mutual fund and exchange-traded fund portfolios tailored to meet a range of investment time horizons and risk levels that financial advisors can use for their clients taxable and tax-deferred accounts. The Intech acquisition in Australia contributed revenue of \$1.7 million to this segment in the third guarter of 2009.

In the first nine months of 2009 and 2008, this segment represented 19% and 23%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue.

|                      | Thre | e Months En | ded Se | ptember 30 | Nine       | tember 30 |    |        |         |
|----------------------|------|-------------|--------|------------|------------|-----------|----|--------|---------|
| Key Metrics (\$000)  |      | 2009        |        | 2008       | Change     | 2009      | _  | 2008   | Change  |
| Revenue              | \$   | 24,678      | \$     | 28,430     | (13.2)% \$ | 66,964    | \$ | 88,025 | (23.9)% |
| Operating income     | \$   | 14,391      | \$     | 16,149     | (10.9)% \$ | 39,280    | \$ | 48,904 | (19.7)% |
| Operating margin (%) |      | 58.3%       |        | 56.8%      | 1.5pp      | 58.7%     |    | 55.6%  | 3.1pp   |

Although revenue declined across all products in the Investment Management segment, Investment Consulting, which has been a leading contributor to revenue growth in recent years, accounted for about three-fourths of the segment is revenue decline in the first nine months of 2009. Our Investment Consulting business suffered because one client did not renew its contract when it expired in the fourth quarter of 2008 and another client did not renew its contract in May 2009. Combined, these contracts represented about \$17 million of revenue in 2008.

We provided advisory services on approximately \$68.2 billion in assets as of September 30, 2009, compared with approximately \$66.2 billion as of December 31, 2008 and approximately \$85.2 billion as of September 30, 2008. These asset totals include relationships for which we receive basis-point fees, including consulting and agreements where we act as a portfolio construction manager for a mutual fund or variable annuity. We also provide Investment Consulting services for some assets under management for which we receive a flat fee; these assets are not included in the total assets reported above. Excluding changes related to contract wins or cancellations, changes in the value of assets under advisement can come from two primary sources: gains or losses related to overall trends in market performance, and net inflows or outflows caused when investors add to or redeem shares from these portfolios.

Total assets under advisement for Investment Consulting declined approximately 20% compared with September 30, 2008, as assets under advisement from Morningstar Associates declined 53.0%, which was partially offset by the increase in assets under advisement from Ibbotson Associates, which were up about 13.7%. The majority of the asset decline reflects the loss of two contracts discussed in more detail above, partially offset by net inflows and new client wins in assets under advisement for Ibbotson Associates, as well as positive market performance in 2009.

Retirement Advice revenue was also down in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009, although to a lesser extent than Investment Consulting. Assets under management for Retirement Advice increased to \$14.6 billion as of September 30, 2009, compared with \$11.0 billion as of December 31, 2008 and \$13.5 billion as of September 30, 2008. The lower revenue mainly reflects client non-renewals during the first nine months of 2009.

|  | As of September 30 |             |    |      |  |  |
|--|--------------------|-------------|----|------|--|--|
| Assets under advisement for Investment Consulting (\$ billions)      |                    | 2009        |    | 2008 |  |  |
| Ibbotson Associates  | \$                 | 48.0        | \$ | 42.2 |  |  |
| Morningstar Associates   |                    | 20.2        |    | 43.0 |  |  |
| Total  | \$                 | 68.2        | \$ | 85.2 |  |  |
|  |                    |             |    |      |  |  |
| Assets under management in managed retirement accounts (\$ hillions) | As of Se           | eptember 30 |    | 2008 |  |  |

|  | As of September | er 30 |            |
|--|-----------------|-------|------------|
| Assets under management in managed retirement accounts (\$ billions) |                 | 2009  | 2008       |
| Advice by Ibbotson   | \$              | 13.2  | \$<br>12.3 |
| Morningstar Retirement Manager                                       |                 | 1.4   | 1.2        |
| Total  | \$              | 14.6  | \$<br>13.5 |

Morningstar Managed Portfolios also contributed to the segment s revenue decline in the third quarter and first nine months of 2009, although to a much lesser extent than Investment Consulting. The lower revenue mainly reflects lower average asset levels during the first nine months of 2009 compared with the same period in 2008. Assets under management for Morningstar Managed Portfolios regained asset levels observed in previous quarters, ending at \$1.9 billion as of September 30, 2009 compared with \$1.7 billion as of June 30, 2009 and \$1.6 billion as of December 31, 2008

Operating expense in the segment decreased \$2.0 million, or 16.2%, in the third quarter of 2009 and decreased \$11.4 million, or 29.2%, in the first nine months of 2009. The decrease was primarily because of lower bonus and other compensation-related expense, partially offset by the additional operating expense related to the Intech acquisition. Bonus expense declined \$2.6 million in the quarter and \$8.6 million in the first nine months of 2009. Most of this reduction reflects the changes we made to our bonus program for 2009 as part of our efforts to better align our cost structure with revenue in the challenging business environment. The reduction in bonus expense also reflects a slowdown in our financial performance in 2009 compared with 2008. Other compensation-related expense was down, primarily because we suspended matching contributions to our 401(k) plan in the United States, reducing operating expense by about \$0.2 million in this segment in the third quarter and \$1.1 million in the first nine months of 2009.

Operating margin was 58.3% in the third quarter of 2009 and 58.7% for the first nine months of 2009. With operating expense declining more than revenue in this segment, our operating margin improved 1.5 percentage points in the third quarter of 2009 and 3.1 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009. Lower bonus expense as a percentage of revenue was the main driver of the margin improvement in both periods, partially offset by the impact of the Intech acquisition.

#### **Corporate Items**

We do not allocate corporate costs to our business segments. The corporate items category also includes amortization expense related to intangible assets recorded when we allocate the purchase price of acquisitions. The table below shows the components

of corporate items that impacted our consolidated operating income:

|                       | Thre | e Months En | ded Se | eptember 30 | Nine       | otember 30 |    |        |        |
|-----------------------|------|-------------|--------|-------------|------------|------------|----|--------|--------|
| Key Metrics (\$000)   |      | 2009        |        | 2008        | Change     | 2009       |    | 2008   | Change |
| Amortization expense  | \$   | 3,130       | \$     | 3,952       | (20.8)% \$ | 13,793     | \$ | 12,065 | 14.3%  |
| Depreciation expense  |      | 1,892       |        | 1,192       | 58.7%      | 5,564      |    | 3,347  | 66.2%  |
| Corporate unallocated |      | 8,984       |        | 10,424      | (13.8)%    | 26,304     |    | 28,641 | (8.2)% |
| Corporate items       | \$   | 14,006      | \$     | 15,568      | (10.0)% \$ | 45,661     | \$ | 44,053 | 3.7%   |

Amortization of intangible assets decreased \$0.9 million in the third quarter of 2009, reflecting a \$1.7 million reduction of previously recorded intangible amortization expense. In the third quarter of 2009, we revised the preliminary purchase price allocations related to recent acquisitions. Amortization expense increased \$1.7 million in the first nine months of 2009, reflecting incremental amortization expense related to our 2008 and 2009 acquisitions, partially offset by the adjustment recorded in the third quarter. Based on acquisitions completed through September 30, 2009, we estimate that aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets will be \$18.6 million in 2009 and \$18.1 million in 2010. Some of the purchase price allocations are preliminary,

#### **Table of Contents**

and the values assigned to intangible assets and the associated amortization expense may be affected by changes to these preliminary purchase price allocations.

Depreciation expense increased \$0.7 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$2.3 million in the first nine months of 2009. In the fourth quarter of 2008, we relocated to our new corporate headquarters, resulting in higher depreciation expense compared with the prior-year period.

Corporate unallocated decreased \$1.4 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$2.3 million in the first nine months of 2009. The decline in costs in this category for the third quarter of 2009 and the first nine months of 2009 was primarily from lower bonus expense, other compensation-related expense, and travel expense. These costs savings were partially offset by a \$2.4 million expense recorded in the third quarter to increase lease vacancy reserves, primarily for the former lbbotson headquarters. The corporate unallocated for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 also reflects a \$3.5 million operating expense for estimated penalties related to the timing of deposits for taxes withheld on stock option exercises from 2006 through September 30, 2009.

## Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Entities, Non-Operating Income, and Income Tax Expense

# **Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Entities**

|  | Three Months Ended September 30 |      |    |  |      | Nine N | 0      |       |
|--|---------------------------------|------|----|--|------|--------|--------|-------|
| (\$000)                                |                                 | 2009 |    |  | 2008 |        | 2009   | 2008  |
| Equity in net income of unconsolidated |                                 |      |    |  |      |        |        |       |
| entities                               | \$                              | 429  | \$ |  | 268  | \$     | 790 \$ | 1,065 |

Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities includes our portion of the net income (loss) of Morningstar Japan K.K. (MJKK), Morningstar Danmark A/S, Morningstar Sweden AB and Morningstar Korea Co., Ltd. (until September 2009). In the third quarter and first nine months of 2009 and 2008, equity in net income of unconsolidated entities was primarily from our position in MJKK. In September 2009, we acquired an additional 20% ownership interest in Morningstar Korea increasing our ownership percentage to 60%. As a result of the majority ownership, beginning in September 2009, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations are part of our consolidated financial statements. We describe our investments in unconsolidated entities in more detail in Note 7 of the Notes to our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### **Non-Operating Income**

The following table presents the components of net non-operating income:

Edgar Filing: Morningstar, Inc. - Form 10-Q

| (\$000)                     | 2009      | 2008           | 2009  | 2008        |
|-----------------------------|-----------|----------------|-------|-------------|
| Interest income, net        | \$<br>572 | \$<br>1,568 \$ | 2,314 | \$<br>4,468 |
| Other income (expense), net | 221       | (241)          | 985   | (203)       |
| Non-operating income, net   | \$<br>793 | \$<br>1,327 \$ | 3,299 | \$<br>4,265 |

Net interest income mainly reflects interest from our investment portfolio. Net interest income decreased \$1.0 million in the third quarter of 2009 and \$2.2 million in the first nine months of 2009 as a result of lower returns on our investment balances.

Other income (expense) primarily represents foreign currency exchange gains and losses arising from the ordinary course of business related to our U.S. and non-U.S. operations. It also includes royalty income from MJKK and realized gains and losses from our investment portfolio. In the third quarter of 2009, we recorded a holding gain of \$0.4 million resulting from the difference between the fair value and the book value of our investment in Morningstar Korea. The non-operating income in the first nine months of 2009 reflects this holding gain as well as net foreign currency exchange gains.

#### **Income Tax Expense**

The following table summarizes the components of our effective tax rate:

|  | Three Months Ended September 30 |        |    |        |    | Nine Months Ended September 30 |         |  |  |
|--|---------------------------------|--------|----|--------|----|--------------------------------|---------|--|--|
| (\$000)                                  |                                 | 2009   | _  | 2008   |    | 2009                           | 2008    |  |  |
| Income before income taxes and equity in |                                 |        |    |        |    |                                |         |  |  |
| net income of unconsolidated entities    | \$                              | 34,476 | \$ | 35,503 | \$ | 104,295 \$                     | 114,696 |  |  |
| Equity in net income of unconsolidated   |                                 |        |    |        |    |                                |         |  |  |
| entities                                 |                                 | 429    |    | 268    |    | 790                            | 1,065   |  |  |
| Net (income) loss attributable to        |                                 |        |    |        |    |                                |         |  |  |
| noncontrolling interests                 |                                 | 22     |    | (37)   |    | 40                             | (372)   |  |  |
| Total                                    | \$                              | 34,927 | \$ | 35,734 | \$ | 105,125 \$                     | 115,389 |  |  |
| Income tax expense                       | \$                              | 12,407 | \$ | 13,547 | \$ | 37,099 \$                      | 42,127  |  |  |
| Effective tax rate                       |                                 | 35.5%  |    | 37.9%  | 6  | 35.3%                          | 36.5%   |  |  |

Our effective tax rate declined 2.4 percentage points in the third quarter of 2009 and 1.2 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009. The lower effective tax rate reflects the use of \$2.1 million of tax credits from previous years. These tax credits favorably impacted our tax rate by approximately 6 percentage points in the quarter and 2 percentage points in the first nine months of 2009. The effective tax rate for the first nine months of 2009 also reflects the favorable impact of reversing approximately \$2.2 million in reserves for uncertain tax positions. Of these, \$1.4 million occurred in the first quarter as a result of a lapse in the statute of limitations with the remainder of the reversal because of settlements and other audit activity. These items were partially offset by the impact of the non-deductible deposit penalty expense, which increased our year-to-date effective tax rate by approximately 1.3 percentage points, and the impact of foreign taxes.

As of September 30, 2009, our Consolidated Balance Sheet includes a current liability of \$0.4 million and a non-current liability of \$3.7 million for unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2008, our Consolidated Balance Sheet included a current liability of \$4.0 million and a non-current liability of \$3.8 million for unrecognized tax benefits. These amounts include interest and penalties, less any associated tax benefits. The decrease in the liability from December 31, 2008 primarily reflects the reversal of approximately \$2.2 million of reserves for uncertain tax positions discussed previously and \$1.5 million of cash settlement payments.

We are currently being audited by the U.S. federal and various state and local tax authorities in the United States as well as the tax authorities in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions. It is likely that the examination phase of some of these audits will conclude in 2009. It is not possible to estimate the impact of current audits on previously recorded unrecognized tax benefits.

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

We believe our available cash balances and investments, along with cash generated from operations, will be sufficient to meet our operating and cash needs for the foreseeable future. We invest our cash reserves in cash equivalents and investments, consisting primarily of fixed-income securities. We maintain a conservative investment policy for our investments and invest a portion of these

assets in municipal securities with high-quality stand-alone credit ratings. The ongoing effects of the financial crisis, which have continued during 2009, have heightened our application of a conservative investment policy, emphasizing principal preservation. Investments in our portfolio have a maximum maturity of two years; the weighted average maturity is approximately one year.

We intend to use our cash, cash equivalents, and investments for general corporate purposes, including for working capital and for funding future growth. To date we have not needed to access any significant commercial credit and have not attempted to borrow or establish any lines of credit.

#### Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

As of September 30, 2009, we had cash, cash equivalents, and investments of \$362.2 million, an increase of \$64.6 million compared with December 31, 2008. This increase mainly reflects cash provided by operating activities and proceeds received from employee stock option exercises, partially offset by cash used for acquisitions and capital expenditures.

#### **Cash Provided by Operating Activities**

Our main source of capital is cash generated from operating activities. We typically pay bonuses in the first quarter of the year. As a result, cash provided by operating activities in the first quarter tends to be lower compared with subsequent quarters.

In the first nine months of 2009, cash provided by operating activities was \$67.3 million, a decrease of \$31.1 million compared with cash provided by operating activities of \$98.4 million in the first nine months of 2008. The decrease mainly reflects an increase of \$9.6 million in bonus payments and an \$11.8 million reduction related to tenant improvement allowances.

We paid \$58.9 million in annual bonus payments in the first quarter of 2009, compared with \$49.3 million in the prior-year period. The bonuses paid in 2009 included approximately \$48.9 million of bonus expense recorded in 2008 and approximately \$10.0 million of bonus payments deferred from 2007. In accordance with bonus program revisions adopted in January 2009, we did not defer payments on any bonus expense recorded for 2008.

Tenant improvement allowances of \$11.4 million received in connection with the build-out of our new headquarters benefited cash flow in the first nine months of 2008 but did not recur in 2009. The tenant improvement allowance received in 2008 is being amortized as a reduction in office lease expense over the lease term and is deducted from net income to arrive at cash provided by operating activities.

#### **Cash Used for Investing Activities**

Cash used for investing activities consists primarily of cash used for acquisitions; purchases of investments, net of proceeds from the sale of investments; and capital expenditures. The level of investing activities can vary from period to period depending on the level of activity in these three categories. In the first nine months of 2009, cash used for investing activities was \$76.1 million, compared with \$61.3 million in the same period in 2008.

Cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, was \$19.3 million in the first nine months of 2009. We completed four acquisitions in the first nine months of 2009 and increased our investment in Morningstar Korea. In comparison, cash used for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, was \$56.0 million in the first nine months of 2008, reflecting our acquisition of the Hemscott data, media, and investor relations Web site businesses in January 2008 and Financial Computer Support, Inc. in September 2008.

Purchases of investments, net of proceeds from the sale of investments, were \$47.1 million in the first nine months of 2009 as we transferred cash balances in excess of our immediate needs into investments with longer maturities. In contrast, in the first nine months of 2008, the proceeds from the sales of investments exceeded the purchases of investments by \$23.9 million. As of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had investments, consisting primarily of fixed-income securities, of \$172.8 million and \$123.7 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2009, our investments represented just under one-half of our total cash, cash equivalents, and investments balance, slightly higher than the levels as of December 31, 2008.

Capital expenditures were \$10.3 million in the first nine months of 2009, a decrease of \$19.0 million, compared with \$29.3 million in the first nine months of 2008. In 2009, the amount was primarily composed of capital expenditures for our new headquarters in Chicago and for a couple of our office locations in Europe. In 2008, the amount was almost entirely composed of capital expenditures for our new headquarters in Chicago. We expect to make capital expenditures of approximately \$12 to \$13 million in 2009, significantly lower than the amount of \$48.5 million in 2008.

### **Cash Provided by Financing Activities**

Cash provided by financing activities consists primarily of proceeds from stock option exercises and excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units. Excess tax benefits occur at the time a stock option is exercised when the intrinsic value of the option (the difference between the fair value of our stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the option) is greater than the fair value of the option at the time of grant. Similarly, excess tax benefits are generated upon vesting of restricted stock units when the market value of our common stock on the vesting date exceeds the grant price of the restricted stock units. These excess tax benefits reduce the cash we pay for income taxes in the year they are recognized. It is not possible to predict the timing of stock option exercises or the intrinsic value that will be achieved at the time options are exercised or upon vesting of restricted stock units. As a result, we expect cash flow from financing activities to vary over time. Note 8 in the Notes to our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include additional information concerning stock options and restricted stock units outstanding as of September 30, 2009.

Cash provided by financing activities was \$19.8 million in the first nine months of 2009, consisting mainly of proceeds from stock option exercises of \$14.4 million and excess tax benefits of \$5.7 million. Cash provided by financing activities decreased by \$19.5 million, or 49.7%, compared with the first nine months of 2008, driven mostly by a \$16.3 million decline in excess tax benefits and a \$2.9 million reduction in proceeds from stock option exercises. The decrease was due primarily to fewer options being exercised and lower average stock price at the time the stock options were exercised.

Employees exercised approximately 1.2 million and 1.8 million stock options in the first nine months of 2009 and 2008, respectively. The total intrinsic value (the difference between the market value of our stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the option) of options exercised during the first nine months of 2009 and 2008 was \$31.3 million and \$100.2 million, respectively.

#### **Acquisitions**

In the first nine months of 2009, we completed four acquisitions. Cash used for these four acquisitions, net of acquired cash, was \$18.7 million, and is subject to post-closing adjustments. The table below shows additional information concerning these acquisitions:

| Acquisition   | Description   | Date Completed | Purchase Price*          |
|---|---|----------------|--------------------------|
| Global financial filings<br>database business of<br>Global Reports LLC                        | A leading provider of online financial and<br>Corporate and Social Responsibility reports for<br>publicly traded companies around the world   | April 20, 2009 | Not separately disclosed |
| Equity research and data business of C.P.M.S. Computerized Portfolio Management Services Inc. | C.P.M.S. tracks fundamental equity data for approximately 4,000 securities in the United States and Canada as well as tracks and provides earnings estimates for Canadian stocks  | May 1, 2009    | \$13.9 million           |
| Andex Associates, Inc.  | The company is known for its Andex Charts, individual graphic charts detailing historical market returns, stock index growth, inflation rates, currency rates, and general economic conditions for the United States dating back to 1926, and for Canada dating back to 1950  | May 1, 2009    | Not separately disclosed |
| Intech Pty Ltd  | A leading provider of multi-manager and investment portfolio solutions in Sydney, Australia. Intech also manages a range of single sector, alternative strategy, and diversified investment portfolios, has one of the leading separately managed account databases in Australia, and offers the Intech Desktop Consultant, a research software product for institutions. As of June 30, 2009, Intech had \$2.7 billion in assets under management. | June 30, 2009  | Not separately disclosed |

<sup>\*</sup> Total purchase price less cash acquired

Increased Investment in Morningstar Korea Co., Ltd.

In addition to these four acquisitions, in September 2009, we acquired an additional 20% ownership in Morningstar Korea increasing our ownership interest to 60%. Morningstar Korea became a majority-owned subsidiary in September 2009, and its

assets, liabilities, and results of operations have been consolidated. Morningstar Korea provides financial information and services for investors in South Korea and offers consulting and advisory services through its subsidiary, Morningstar Associates Korea.

# **Subsequent Events**

See Note 12 in the Notes to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for events subsequent to September 30, 2009.

44

#### **Reclassifications**

In 2009, as a part of the changes to our organizational structure with a focus on our global product lines, we no longer include Morningstar Site Builder as part of Morningstar Advisor Workstation. Site Builder consists of a set of integrated tools, content, and reports that investment firms can seamlessly add to their existing advisor Web sites. The table below shows the number of U.S. Advisor Workstation licenses, revised for consistency with the current-year presentation.

#### As of

|   | Mar 31, 2008 | Jun 30, 2008 | Sep 30, 2008 | Dec 31, 2008 | Mar 31, 2009 |
|---|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| U.S. Advisor Workstation licenses, revised    | 152,747      | 154,269      | 153,398      | 151,874      | 148,614      |
|   |              |              |              |              |              |
| U.S. Advisor Workstation licenses, previously |              |              |              |              |              |
| reported                                      | 178,619      | 188,792      | 189,863      | 190,267      | 194,857      |

In addition, we re continuing to globalize the Premium subscription and advertising revenue generated by Morningstar.com Web sites, which operate in a variety of markets. As a result, we now include advertising revenue for all non-U.S. sites as part of Morningstar.com and have reclassified prior-year product revenue for consistency with the current-year presentation.

These reclassifications did not have any impact on the order of our top five products in 2008 or 2007, which are shown in the two tables below.

| Top Five Products 2008 | Reclassified for<br>consistency with<br>2009 Product<br>Revenue<br>(\$000) | As Reported<br>Revenue (\$000) |
|------------------------|--|--------------------------------|
| Licensed Data          | \$<br>78,329   | \$<br>78,329                   |
| Investment Consulting  | 77,757   | 77,757                         |
| Advisor Workstation    | 64,222   | 66,675                         |
| Morningstar.com        | 45,684   | 43,274                         |
| Principia              | 27,791   | 27,791                         |

|                        | Reclassified for consistency with |                 |
|------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------|
|                        | 2009 Product<br>Revenue           | As Reported     |
| Top Five Products 2007 | (\$000)                           | Revenue (\$000) |
| Investment Consulting  | \$<br>75,595                      | \$<br>75,595    |
| Licensed Data          | 59,207                            | 59,207          |
| Advisor Workstation    | 53,755                            | 54,980          |
| Morningstar.com        | 39,367                            | 37,630          |
| Principia              | 28,760                            | 28,760          |

#### **Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Our critical accounting policies and estimates are discussed in the Management s Discussion and Analysis section included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. In addition, in the first nine months of 2009, we adopted the following financial accounting standards:

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)

In the third quarter of 2009, we adopted the FASB s *Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)*. The FASB s ASC is the source of authoritative U.S. accounting and reporting standards for nongovernmental entities, in addition to guidance issued by the SEC. The Codification reorganizes the thousands of U.S. GAAP pronouncements into roughly 90 accounting topics and displays all topics using a consistent structure. It also includes relevant SEC guidance that follows the same topical structure in separate sections in the Codification. We have updated our financial statement disclosures to reflect the relevant references to the FASB s ASC.

Accounting and Reporting of the noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiaries

Effective January 1, 2009, we began accounting and reporting the noncontrolling interests in our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with FASB ASC 810, *Consolidation*. A noncontrolling interest is the portion of equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent company. We conduct our business operations outside of the United States through wholly owned or majority owned operating subsidiaries. The noncontrolling (minority) interest is now reported in our Consolidated Balance Sheet within equity, separately from the shareholders equity attributable to Morningstar, Inc. In addition, we present the net income or loss and comprehensive income or loss attributed to the Morningstar, Inc. shareholders and the noncontrolling interests in our Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statement of Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

**Business Combinations** 

Effective January 1, 2009, FASB ASC 805, *Business Combinations*, modifies the financial accounting and reporting of business combinations. For business combinations after January 1, 2009, we are required to recognize and measure the fair value of the acquired operation as a whole, and the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their full fair values as of the date control is obtained, regardless of the percentage ownership in the acquired operation or how the acquisition was achieved. In addition, direct costs incurred in connection with a business combination, such as finder s fees, advisory, accounting, legal, valuation, and other professional fees are expensed as incurred. Restructuring costs, including severance and relocation for employees of the acquired entity, are recognized separately from the business combination as post-combination expenses unless the target entity meets the criteria of FASB ASC 420, *Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations*, on the acquisition date. Prior to January 1, 2009, acquisition-related costs and restructuring costs were generally included as part of the cost of the acquired business.

EITF Issue 08-6, Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations

We adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 08-6, *Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations*, concurrently with the adoption of FASB ASC 805, *Business Combinations* and FASB ASC 810, *Consolidation*. The intent of EITF 08-6 is to clarify the accounting for certain transactions and impairment considerations related to equity method investments as modified by the provisions of FASB ASC 805 and FASB ASC 810. EITF 08-6 is incorporated in FASB ASC 323, *Investments Equity Method and Joint Ventures*.

Fair Value Measurement

In April 2009, the FASB issued three Final Staff Positions (FSPs) intended to provide additional application guidance and enhance disclosures regarding fair value measurements and impairments of securities.

- 1. FSP FAS 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, provides guidelines for making fair value measurements more consistent with the principles presented in SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This accounting guidance is incorporated in FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.
- FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, enhances consistency in financial reporting by increasing the frequency of fair value disclosures. This accounting guidance is incorporated into FASB ASC 825, Financial Instruments.

3. FSP FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, *Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments*, provides additional guidance designed to create greater clarity and consistency in accounting for and presenting impairment losses on securities. This accounting guidance is incorporated in FASB ASC 320, *Investments Debt and Equity Securities*.

The disclosures related to these amendments appear in Note 6 in the Notes to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Subsequent Events

FASB ASC 855, *Subsequent Events*, establishes the accounting for and disclosures of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date, that is, whether that date represents the date the financial statements were issued or were available to be issued. See Note 12 in the Notes to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the related disclosure.

The adoption of these financial accounting standards did not have a material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### **Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements**

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, *Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement 140*, and SFAS No.167, *Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)*. These accounting pronouncements change the way entities account for transfers of financial assets and determine what entities must be consolidated. The most significant amendment resulting from SFAS No. 166 consists of the removal of the concept of a Qualifying Special-Purpose Entity (QSPE) from SFAS No. 140.

SFAS No. 167 addresses the effects of eliminating the QSPE concept from SFAS No. 140 and responds to concerns about the application of certain key provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46(R))*, including concerns over the transparency of enterprises involvement with Variable Interest Entities (VIEs).

For Morningstar, both SFAS No. 166 and SFAS No.167 will be effective beginning January 1, 2010. We are in the process of determining the impact, if any, these accounting pronouncements will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS No. 166 and SFAS No. 167 have not been incorporated into the FASB Accounting Standards Codification as of November 4, 2009.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-13, *Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements*. ASU 2009-13 supersedes EITF Issue 00-21, *Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables*. ASU 2009-13 establishes the accounting and reporting guidance for arrangements when a vendor performs multiple revenue-generating activities, addresses how to separate deliverables, and how to measure and allocate arrangement consideration. Vendors often provide multiple products or services to customers. As products and services are often provided at different points in time or over different time periods within the same contractual arrangement, this guidance enables vendors to account for products or services separately rather than as a combined unit.

Also in October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, *Software (Topic 985): Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements,* and affects vendors that sell or lease tangible products in an arrangement that contains software that is more than incidental to the tangible product as a whole. ASU No. 2009-14 does not affect software revenue arrangements that do not include tangible products. It also does not affect software revenue arrangements that include services if the software is essential to the functionality of those services.

For Morningstar, ASU No. 2009-13 and ASU No. 2009-14 will be effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into from January 1, 2011. Early adoption is permitted. We are in the process of determining the impact, if any, these accounting standard updates will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

## Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans

Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Our directors and executive officers may exercise stock options or purchase or sell shares of our common stock in the market from time to time. We encourage them to make these transactions through plans that comply with Exchange Act Rule 10b5-1(c). Morningstar will not receive any proceeds, other than proceeds from the exercise of stock options, related to these transactions. The following table, which we are providing on a voluntary basis, shows the Rule 10b5-1 sales plans entered into by our directors and executive officers that were in effect as of November 1, 2009:

|   |                 | Plan                | Number of<br>Shares<br>to be |  | Number of<br>Shares<br>Sold under<br>the Plan through | Projected                   |
|---|-----------------|---------------------|------------------------------|--|---|-----------------------------|
| Name and Position   | Date of<br>Plan | Termination<br>Date | Sold under<br>the Plan       | Timing of Sales under the<br>Plan  | November 1,<br>2009                                   | Beneficial<br>Ownership (1) |
| Joe Mansueto<br>Chairman and Chief<br>Executive Officer     | 08/13/08        | 12/31/09            | 1,075,000                    | Shares to be sold ratably over the course of the plan                                    | 792,517   | 25,789,620                  |
|   | 08/04/09        | 12/31/10            | 1,034,050                    | Shares to be sold<br>ratably over the course<br>of the plan beginning<br>January 4, 2010 |   | 24,755,570                  |
| Chris Boruff<br>President,<br>Advisor Software              | 05/12/08        | 11/15/09            | 80,000                       | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             | 12,000  | 91,180                      |
|   | 08/25/09        | 05/01/10            | 15,000                       | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             |   | 76,180                      |
| Cheryl Francis Director                                     | 08/11/09        | 12/17/10            | 12,000                       | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             |   | 28,457                      |
| Steve Kaplan<br>Director                                    | 08/05/09        | 05/31/10            | 725                          | Shares to be sold on a specified date  |   | 67,776                      |
| Cathy Odelbo<br>President,<br>Equity Research               | 08/13/08        | 12/31/10            | 100,000                      | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             |   | 76,165                      |
| Don Phillips President, Fund Research and Managing Director | 05/09/06        | 09/30/10            | 1,506,097                    | Weekly increments of up to 17,500 shares   | 1,461,097   | 456,623                     |
| Paul Sturm<br>Director                                      | 08/28/09        | 12/31/10            | 25,000                       | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             |   | 116,438                     |
| David Williams<br>Managing<br>Director,<br>Design           | 09/10/08        | 12/31/10            | 20,000                       | Shares to be sold under<br>the plan if the stock<br>reaches specified prices             |   | 92,640                      |

(1) This column reflects an estimate of the number of shares each identified director and executive officer will beneficially own following the sale of all shares under the Rule 10b5-1 sales plans identified above. This information reflects the beneficial ownership of our common stock on September 30, 2009, and includes shares of our common stock subject to options that were then exercisable or that will have become exercisable by November 29, 2009 and restricted stock units that will vest by November 29, 2009. The estimates do not reflect any changes to beneficial ownership that may have occurred since

September 30, 2009. Each director and executive officer identified in the table may amend or terminate his or her Rule 10b5-1 sales plan and may adopt additional Rule 10b5-1 plans in the future.

## Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our investment portfolio is actively managed and may suffer losses from fluctuating interest rates, market prices, or adverse security selection. Our investment portfolio is mainly invested in high-quality fixed-income securities. As of September 30, 2009, our cash, cash equivalents, and investments balance was \$362.2 million. Based on our estimates, a 100 basis-point change in interest rates would impact the fair value of our investment portfolio by approximately \$0.9 million.

As our non-U.S. revenue increases as a percentage of our consolidated revenue, fluctuations in foreign currencies present a greater potential risk. To date, we have not engaged in currency hedging, and we do not currently have any positions in derivative instruments to hedge our currency risk. Our results could suffer if certain foreign currencies decline relative to the U.S. dollar. In addition, because we use the local currency of our subsidiaries as the functional currency, we are affected by the translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars.

#### Item 4. Controls and Procedures

#### (a) Evaluation and Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 12a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as of September 30, 2009. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported as and when required and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

#### (b) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

## PART 2 OTHER INFORMATION

# Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We incorporate by reference the information regarding legal proceedings set forth in Note 11, Contingencies, and Note 12, Subsequent Events, of the Notes to our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part 1, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Item 1A Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

### Item 6. Exhibits

## (a) Exhibits

| Exhibit No | Description of Exhibit  |
|------------|---|
| 31.1       | Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended      |
| 31.2       | Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended      |
| 32.1       | Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 |
| 32.2       | Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 |

# Table of Contents

## **SIGNATURE**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

MORNINGSTAR, INC.

Date: November 4, 2009

By: /s/ Scott Cooley

Scott Cooley

Chief Financial Officer

51